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direCtors’ report and management disCussions and analYsis

to the members,
The Directors have pleasure in presenting the 26th Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements of Umang Dairies Limited 
(UDL) for the year ended 31st March, 2019.

FinanCial results
 (` in Lakhs)

 2018-19 2017-18

Revenue from Operations                  22,577 24,576

Profit before Finance Cost and Depreciation (PBIDT)                    1,416 1,343

Profit before Tax (PBT)           654 610

Profit after Tax (PAT) 505                       527

Surplus brought forward 3,284 2,958

Total amount available for appropriation 3,789 3,485

appropriations:

Capital Redemption Reserve - 151

General Reserve 50 50

Dividend (Incl. Tax) 66 -

Surplus carried forward 3,673 3,284

diVidend
The Directors are pleased to recommend a dividend of 10% on equity shares.

operations
The Revenue from Operations was Rs 22,577 Lakhs during the year as compared to Rs 24,576 Lakhs in the previous year. As 
anticipated last year, the price of Milk, SMP and Ghee remained soft during the year. There was also a slump in International 
prices of SMP. Due to these factors your Company took strategic decision to reduce bulk sales (SMP/Ghee) by 44%. UDL is also 
focusing on converting bulk sales into retail packs to gain better margins.  This has led to volume growth in retail and Institutional 
sales. The sales of consumer pack Ghee and Private label ghee increased by 52% for the year over previous year.  UDL is 
continuing to invest behind retail distribution expansion and up-gradation of distribution infrastructure. This will help in driving 
sales and distribution for the consumer products.

UDL focused on decreasing interest costs through reduction of working capital which has resulted in better cash flow for the year. 

The capacity utilization for the plant stood at 47% for the year.

2018-19 was a challenging year as several small players entered the industry due to surplus availability and low price of SMP. 
This led to these smaller players launching low price milk powders in the market. Despite these challenges, UDL has been able 
to retain its volumes in the consumer segment, with its brands like JK Dairy White Magik, JK Dairy Top & Umang Ghee. UDL 
has been able to grow its institutional business of its dairy products like Ghee and Dairy Whiteners to Organised Retail chains 
like Walmart, Grofers, Spar, Spencers and to large corporates like Coca Cola and GSK Consumer Healthcare, as an input to 
their final products.

In the coming year UDL will continue its efforts to build both its consumer and institutional segments for its products including 
SMP and Ghee.  The company has renewed its efforts on New Product Development. UDL is actively engaging with consumers 
to develop New Products based on their feedback. 
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milk proCurement / raw material seCuritY
Milk prices remained soft during the year. Many companies had excess inventory of Fat & SMP on account of which the commodity 
prices (SMP & Ghee) remained under pressure. The realization of Milk prices for the farmers also declined significantly leaving 
less money in their hands to invest in new cattle. In 2019-20 the production of milk is expected to be low which can result in 
significant increase in Milk prices over 2018-19.  The selling prices of Ghee/SMP also expected to improve significantly for next 
year. 

Most dairies are procuring the milk through VLC pattern which is also leading to high competition at the village level. Share of 
milk procured through VLC has increased for UDL during the year which has also led to better quality milk being procured to 
manufacture the products.

liquid milk plant
UDL operates and manages a facility owned by another Company to process and pack Liquid Milk in poly pouches, under a long 
term agreement.  Capacity utilization for the year was at 96%, which is highest till date. 

The capacity utilisation for the Curd Chhach plant was better than 2017-18.

expansion and modernization plan
UDL continues to modernise its plant for better efficiency. The company has commissioned CBMM (Continuous Butter Making 
Machine) leading to better productivity.  UDL is working on continuous improvement in productivity initiatives including reduction 
in stack losses. UDL is installing High Speed Powder Packing machine in 2019-20 that will result in better productivity, reduction 
in packing material loss and better packing quality.

Food saFetY
Food Safety and Quality remained a Focus Area for UDL during FY 2018 -19.

We upgraded the Food Safety Management System as per requirement of FSSC 22000 Version 4.1 and Quality Management 
System as per ISO : 9001 – 2015. This enabled us to maintain the same standards that leading food & dairy brands follow as far 
as Food Safety and Quality Management systems are concerned.

Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) played a pivotal role for this transition phase. In– House Trainings were conducted by 
Renowned external experts. Staff Members from different functions were trained in FOSTAC & GMP respectively.

As result of the above efforts UDL has successfully cleared GMP & Food Safety Audits by renowned Indian and International 
companies. We sustained Number 1 Position in Plant Grading Index (PGI) Audit by Mother Dairy for 5th year in a row for 3P 
operations. This covers Infrastructure and Systems in Dairy Processing Plant for Food Safety Compliance.

industrY sCenario

indian dairY industrY
India has been the leading producer and consumer of dairy products worldwide since 1998 with a sustained growth in milk and 
milk products. Dairy activities form an essential part of the rural Indian economy, serving as an important source of employment 
and income. However, the milk production per animal is significantly low as compared to the other major dairy producers. 
Moreover, most of the dairy produce in India is consumed domestically, with the majority of it being sold as liquid milk. On 
account of this, the Indian dairy industry holds tremendous potential for value-addition and overall development. According to 
the latest report by IMARC Group, titled “dairy industry in india 2019 edition: market size, growth, prices, segments, 
cooperatives, private dairies, procurement and distribution”, the dairy market in India reached a value of INR 9,16,800 
Crores in 2018.

There are many Opportunities and Challenges in The Indian Dairy Industry. Dairy products are a major source of cheap and 
nutritious food to millions of people in India and the only acceptable source of animal protein for a large vegetarian segment of 
the Indian population. Dairying has been considered as one of the activities aimed at alleviating the poverty and unemployment, 
especially in the rural areas in the rain-fed and drought-prone regions. In India, about three-fourth of the population live in rural 
areas and about 1/3 of them are poor.

Utilizing the benefits of an integrated sales and distribution system and employing diversified sourcing is the way forward in 
the sector. The value added dairy industry segment is expected to attract investments and lot of players are entering into the 
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dairy industry. Players are emphasizing on offering the consumer better quality differentiated products. Consumers are looking 
for more and more healthy and tasty dairy options. This trend is expected to continue in the coming years. As per research 
agencies, dairy sector to grow at 15% CAGR till 2020. Interestingly, the per capita milk consumption in India is increasing at 3% 
CAGR as compared to 1% globally.

opportunities & tHreats

opportunities

i. There is significant growth happening in Value added products in new channels such as Food Service & HORECA.

ii. Dairy companies have introduced Innovative longer shelf life products like UHT Milk, Cream, Paneer etc.

iii. Focus on Retail and Food Service distribution of SMP & Ghee for better pricing  

iv. Innovation on healthy products at an affordable prices

v. Indian consumer continues to upgrade to better quality and packaged products which is leading to more than 15% growth 
in the Dairy industry.

threats

i Milk prices are expected to increase during the year 2019-20 due to lower supply of Milk, resulting into higher cost.

ii. Only 20% of the Milk produced goes to the organized market resulting to huge quality risk for the end consumer.

iii. The trend of adulterated Ghee continues to plague the market which is a serious health risk for the consumers.

growtH outlook
The Indian economy is the fastest growing major economy and is projected to grow faster in the coming years. However, 
the economy appears to have slowed down slightly in 2018-19. The proximate factors responsible for this slowdown include 
declining growth of private consumption, tepid increase in fixed investment and muted exports. There is slowdown of growth in 
agriculture and sustained growth in industry as well as some challenges.

Headline inflation - measured using the consumer and wholesale price indices - declined in 2018-19 though inflation has firmed 
up slightly in recent months.

Rapid urbanization has led to a major increase in the demand for packaged/processed foods, favorably impacting the dairy 
industry in the country. In the era of digitization and increased access to actionable information, the Indian populace is becoming 
health and product quality conscious, which has led to the improved variety of food products available in the country. The 
increase in working population is leading to increased demand for convenient healthy and tasty products by the consumers.

The key to success in the dairy industry in India has been largely based on the capacity of a company to gain a share of a 
consumers’ monthly basket. Hence, industry trend has been to focus on providing a gamut of products across price ranges. 
While pasteurized milk is a volume driven market, value-added products such as Paneer, Cheese, Probiotics, and Flavored 
milk-based drinks along with flavored yogurts have picked up sales. 

Value-added products require high-end infrastructure for manufacture, storage and logistics and are being eyed by several 
investors. In the quest for gaining visibility, stakeholders in the dairy industry have been investing in packaging to create brand 
loyalty and awareness. Innovative technologies of packaging are coming into the picture for milk and especially value-added 
products because of an overall tropical condition of the subcontinent.

UDL is actively exploring entering some of these segments to gain better connect with the consumers.

The expected growth rate for the dairy sector between the periods of 2018 to 2020 is to be 15% will result into many players 
entering into the India Market.

risks & ConCerns
With the decline in milk prices last year, farmers could not get the remunerative prices leading to reduction in fresh investment 
for cattle.  This will result into lower supply of Milk for 2019-20 and may result into higher prices.  The increasing fuel prices may 
lead to inflationary trend in 2019-20.  
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Human resourCe management/ industrial relations
Employees are considered as key stakeholders in the progress of organisation and various initiatives are being taken to upgrade 
their skills through internal and external trainings. Job rotation opportunities are encouraging people to take on new roles and 
maximize their learning and work experience. “Reward and Recognition” schemes are being introduced to develop a competitive 
and performance oriented work culture. Automation of HR functions helps in building speed, accuracy and improve employee 
experience. In order to encourage leadership and problem solving qualities among workmen, Company has established cross 
Functional Team projects. Company provides various Communication platforms with Senior Leadership to ensure open and 
transparent feedback from employees.

Industrial Relations remained cordial throughout the year under review.

internal Control sYstem
Internal audit by corporate audit team consisting of Chartered Accountants as well as an external firm of Chartered Accountants is 
in place and carries out their job at predetermined frequency.  Their task is to audit internal control systems, financial transactions 
and statutory compliances.  Findings/ audit reports along with the action taken reports are reviewed by the Audit Committee. The 
Audit Committee also reviews the effectiveness of Company’s internal controls and regularly monitors implementation of audit 
recommendations.

The Company has in place adequate internal controls commensurate with the size and nature of its operations.

extraCt oF annual return
An extract of the Annual Return as on 31st March 2019 in the prescribed form MGT -9 is attached as Annexure-1 to this Report 
and forms part of it.

partiCulars oF loans, guarantees or inVestments
The particulars of loans, guarantees or securities and investments covered under the provisions of Section 186 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 are given in the financial statements.

related partY transaCtions
During the financial year ended 31st March 2019, all the contracts or arrangements or transactions entered into by the Company 
with the Related Parties were in the ordinary course of business and on arm’s length basis and were in compliance with the 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

Further, the Company has not entered into any contract or arrangement or transaction with the Related Parties which could be 
considered material in accordance with the Policy of the Company on materiality of Related Party Transactions. In view of the 
above, disclosure in FORM AOC-2 is not applicable.

The Related Party Transaction Policy approved by the Board is available on the website of the Company.

direCtors and keY managerial personnel
Shri D.B. Doda retires by rotation and being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment at the ensuing AGM.

All the Independent Directors of the Company have given requisite declarations that they meet the criteria of independence 
as provided in Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and also Regulation 16(1)(b) of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and that they are not aware of any circumstances or situation, which exist or 
may be reasonably anticipated, that could impair or impact their ability to discharge their duties with an objective independent 
judgment and without any external influence.

Shri Manish Bandlish appointed as a Chief Executive Officer of the company w.e.f. 11th June, 2018. Shri C. Venugopal, ceased 
to be Chief Executive Officer of the Company w.e.f. 31st August 2018.

Shri L. R. Nayak, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company w.e.f. 1st October, 2018, post the resignation of Shri Diwan Singh.

Corporate soCial responsiBilitY
The Company has framed Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Policy in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2013 and rules made thereunder. During the year Company has spent Rs. 19.07 Lakhs under various CSR activities, higher 
than the statutory requirement of Rs. 13.90 Lakhs.
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A detailed report on Company’s CSR activities along with the annual report on the CSR activities undertaken by the Company 
during the financial year under review, in the prescribed format is annexed to this Report as Annexure-2. 

auditors
(a) statutory auditors and their report 

 M/s Singhi & Co., Chartered Accountants, have been appointed as Auditors of the Company to hold the office from the 
conclusion of the 24th Annual General Meeting (AGM) held on 27th September 2017 until the conclusion of the 29th AGM 
to be held in year 2022, subject to ratification of the appointment by the members at the respective AGMs.  However, the 
provision relating to ratification of such appointment by Members at every AGM stands deleted w.e.f. 7th May 2018 by the 
Companies (Amendment) Act 2018 and accordingly the said ratification is henceforth not required.  The observation of the 
Auditors in their report on Accounts and the Financial Statements, read with the relevant notes are self-explanatory. 

(b) secretarial auditor and secretarial audit report

 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Board of Directors appointed Shri Namo Narain 
Agarwal, Company Secretary in Practice as Secretarial Auditor to carry out Secretarial Audit of the Company for the financial 
year 2018-19. The Report given by him for the said financial year in the prescribed format is annexed to this Report as 
Annexure-3. The Secretarial Audit Report does not contain any qualification, reservation or adverse remark.

(c) cost auditor and cost audit report

 The Cost Audit for the financial year ended 31st March 2018 was conducted by M/s Sanjay Kumar Garg & Associates, Cost 
Accountants, Delhi and as required Cost Audit Report was duly filed with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of 
India. The Cost audit for the financial year ended 31st March 2019, is being conducted by the said firm and the report will 
be submitted to the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India.

signiFiCant and material orders passed BY tHe regulators or Courts or 
triBunals
During the financial year under review, there were no significant and material orders passed by the Regulators or Courts or 
Tribunals which would impact the going concern status of the Company and its future operations.

ConserVation oF energY etC.
The details as required under Section 134(3)(m)  read with the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 is annexed to this Report as 
Annexure-4 and forms part of it.

partiCulars oF remuneration
Disclosure of the ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median employee’s remuneration and other requisite details 
pursuant to Section 197 (12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5 (1) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, is annexed to this Report as Annexure-5. Further, Particulars of Employees pursuant 
to Rule 5(2) & (3) of the above Rules, form part of this Report, However, in terms of provisions of Section 136 of the said Act, 
the Report and Accounts are being sent to all the members of the Company and others entitled thereto, excluding the said 
particulars of employees. Any member interested in obtaining such particulars may write to the Company Secretary. The said 
information is available for inspection at the Registered Office of the Company during working hours.

Corporate goVernanCe
Corporate Governance - including details pertaining to Board Meetings, Nomination and Remuneration Policy, Performance 
Evaluation, Risk Management, Audit Committee and Vigil Mechanism:

Your Company reaffirms its commitment to the highest standards of corporate governance practices.  Pursuant to Regulation 
34 read with Schedule V of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, a Management 
Discussion and Analysis, Corporate Governance Report and Auditors Certificate regarding compliance of conditions of Corporate 
Governance are made part of this Annual Report.
The Corporate Governance Report which forms part of this Annual Report, also covers the following:
a)  Particulars of the Four Board Meetings held during the financial year under review.
b)  Policy on Nomination and Remuneration of Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management including, inter 

alia, the criteria for performance evaluation of Directors.
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c) The manner in which formal annual evaluation has been made by the Board of its own performance and that of its Committees 
and individual Directors.

d) The details with respect to composition of Audit Committee and establishment of Vigil Mechanism. 

e) Details regarding Risk Management.

f) Details relating to the constitution of Internal Complaints Committee under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013.

deposits
The Company has not taken any deposits from the public.

ComplianCe witH seCretarial standards
The applicable Secretarial Standards issued under Section 118 of the Companies Act 2013 have been complied with.

direCtors’ responsiBilitY statement
As required under Section 134(3)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013, your Directors state that:-

a) In the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards have been followed along with proper 
explanation relating to material departures; if any;

b) The accounting policies have been selected and applied consistently and judgments and estimates made are reasonable 
and prudent  so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year and of 
the profit of the Company for that period;

c) proper and sufficient care has been taken for the maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the said Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities; 

d) The annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis; 

e) The internal financial controls to be followed by the Company have been laid down and that such internal financial controls 
are adequate and were operating effectively; and 

f) The proper systems have been devised to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws and that such systems 
were adequate and operating effectively.

CautionarY statement
Management Discussion and Analysis Report contains forward looking statements which may be identified by the use of words 
in that direction or connoting the same.  All statements that address expectations or projections about the future, including, but 
not limited to statements about the Company’s strategy for growth, product development, market position, expenditures and 
financial results are forward looking statements. These are based on certain assumptions and expectations of future events. The 
Company cannot guarantee that these assumptions and expectations are accurate or will be realized.  The Company’s actual 
results, performance or achievement could thus differ materially from those projected in any such forward looking statements. 
The Company assumes no responsibility to publicly amend, modify or revise such forward looking statements, on the basis of 
any subsequent development information or events.

aCknowledgement 
The Directors wish to thank its Customers, Shareholders, Banks, Dealers, Suppliers and Government Authorities for their 
continued support.

The Board also places on record its sincere appreciation of the hard work, put in by the employees at all levels during the period 
under report.

                                  on behalf of the Board of directors

place : new delhi  d.B. doda  r.c. periwal
date   : 13th may 2019 (director) (director)
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annexures to tHe direCtors’ report For tHe Year ended 31st marCH 2019

annexure-1

Form no. mgt 9
extraCt oF annual return

as on the financial year ended on 31st march 2019

[Pursuant to section 92 (3) of the comPanies act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the comPanies 
(management & administration) rules, 2014]

i. registration & otHer details:

1. CIN L15111UP1992PLC014942

2. Registration Date 02.12.1992

3. Name of the Company Umang Dairies Limited

4. Category/Sub-category of the Company Public Company Limited by Shares/Non-Government Company

5. Address of the Registered office  & 
contact details

Registered office :-
Gajraula, Hasanpur Road
Gajraula -244235
Dist. Amroha, Uttar Pradesh
Ph. No. :  (05924) 252491 - 2
Fax No. : (05924) 252495
Email ID:-sharesumang@jkmail.com | Website: www.umangdairies.com

6. Whether listed company  Yes

7. Name, Address & contact details of 
Registrar and Transfer Agent, if any.

MAS Services Limited
T-34, 2nd Floor, Phase- II
Okhla Industrial Area
New Delhi – 110 020
Ph. No.     : (011) 26387281/82/83
Fax No.     : (011) 26387384
Email  ID   : info@masserv.com | Website: www.massserv.com

ii. prinCipal Business aCtiVities oF tHe CompanY  
 All the business activities contributing 10% or more of the total turnover of the company shall be stated:

si. no. name and description of main 
products / services

nic code of the product/
service*

% to total turnover of the  
company

1. Ghee 10504 34%

2. Milk powder 10502 64%

 * As per National Industrial Classification (2008) – Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation.

iii. partiCulars oF Holding, suBsidiarY and assoCiate Companies

si. 
no.

name and address of the 
company

cin/gLn holding/ 
subsidiary/ 
associate

% of shares 
held

applicable 
section

NIL
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iV. sHareHolding pattern (equity share Capital Breakup as percentage of total equity)

(i) Category-wise share Holding

category of 
shareholders

no. of shares held at the beginning of the 
year (as on 01.04.2018)

no. of shares held at the end of the year
(as on 31.03.2019)

% 
change
during

the year    demat physical total % of 
total 

shares

demat physical total % of 
total 

shares

a. promoters**

(1) indian

a) Individual/ HUF 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

b) Central Govt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

c) State Govt(s) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

d) Bodies Corp. 16415734 0 16415734 74.61 16415734 0 16415734 74.61 0

e) Banks / FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

f) Any other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

sub-total (a) (1):- 16415734 0 16415734 74.61 16415734 0 16415734 74.61 0

(2) Foreign

a) NRI -Individuals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

b) Other -Individuals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

c) Bodies Corp. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

d) Banks / FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

e) Any other 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

sub-total (a) (2):- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

total shareholding of 
promoter (a) = (a)(1) + 
(a)(2)

16415734 0 16415734 74.61 16415734 0 16415734 74.61 0

B. public shareholding

1. institutions

a) Mutual Funds 0 12000 12000 0.05 0 12000 12000 0.05 0.00

b) Banks / FI 11737 3300 15037 0.07 1270 2800 4070 0.02 (0.05)

c) Central Govt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

d) State Govt(s) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

e) Venture Capital Funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

f) Insurance Companies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

g) FIIs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

h) Foreign Venture Capital 
Funds

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

i) Others 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

sub-total (B)(1):- 11737 15300 27037 0.12 1270 14800 16070 0.07 (0.05)

2. non-institutions

a) Bodies Corp.

i) Indian 432230 30300 462530 2.10 315667 30300 345967 1.57 (0.53)

ii) Overseas 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

** the total shareholding of promoters at (a) above includes  54,42,769 equity shares (24.74%) as on 31.3.2019 pertaining to 
constituents of the promoter group as per seBi (issue of Capital & disclosure requirements) regulations, 2018. the same does 
not form part of the promoters as defined in the Companies act, 2013.
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category of 
shareholders

no. of shares held at the beginning of the 
year (as on 01.04.2018)

no. of shares held at the end of the year
(as on 31.03.2019)

% 
change
during

the year    demat physical total % of 
total 

shares

demat physical total % of 
total 

shares

b) individuals

i) Individual shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital upto Rs. 1 lakh

2933036 1310444 4243480 19.29 3061271 1245131 4306402 19.57 0.28

ii) Individual shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital in excess of Rs 
1 lakh

631731 0 631731 2.87 705451 0 705451 3.21 0.34

c) Others (specify)

(i)  Non Resident Indians/OCB 94451 0 94451 0.43 147483 0 147483 0.67 0.24

(ii) Clearing Member 108237 0 108237 0.49 66093 0 66093 0.30 (0.19)

(iii) Trust 20000 0 20000 0.09 0 0 0 0.00 (0.09)

sub-total (B)(2):- 4219685 1340744 5560429 25.27 4295965 1275431 5571396 25.32 0.05

total public 
shareholding (B)=(B)(1)+ 
(B)(2)

4231422 1356044 5587466 25.39 4297235 1290231 5587466 25.39 0.00

c. shares held by custodian 
for gdrs & adrs

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

grand total (a+B+c) 20647156 1356044 22003200 100 20712969 1290231 22003200 100 0

(ii) shareholding of promoters

si. 
no.

shareholder’s 
name

shareholding at the beginning of the 
year (as on 1st april 2018)

shareholding at the end of the year (as 
on 31st march 2019)

% change in 
shareholding 

during the 
yearno. of  

shares
% of total 

shares 
of the 

company

% of shares 
pledged / 

encumbered 
to total shares

no. of 
shares

% of total 
shares 
of the 

company

% of shares 
pledged / 

encumbered 
to total shares

1 Bengal & Assam 
Company Ltd.

1,09,72,965 49.87 - 1,09,72,965 49.87 -

-
total 1,09,72,965 49.87 - 1,09,72,965 49.87 -

(iii) Change in promoters’ shareholding (please specify, if there is no change)

si. 
no.

shareholding at the beginning 
of the year (as on 1st april 2018)

cumulative shareholding 
during the year

no. of 
shares

% of total
shares of the

company

no. of 
shares

% of total 
shares of the 

company

1

Bengal & assam company Ltd.

At the beginning of the year 1,09,72,965 49.87 1,09,72,965 49.87

Date wise Increase / Decrease in 
Promoters Shareholding during the year. NO CHANGE

At the end of the year i.e., 31.03.2019  1,09,72,965 49.87
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(iv) shareholding pattern of top ten shareholders (other than directors, promoters and Holders of gdrs  
      and adrs)

si. 
no.

top ten shareholders shareholding at the 
beginning of the year  

(1st april 2018)

cumulative shareholding at the 
end of the year  

(31st march 2019)

no. of 
shares

% of total 
shares of the 

company

no. of 
shares 

% of total shares of 
the company

1. Juggilal Kamlapat Udyog  Limited 3850000 17.50 3850000 17.50

2. Florence Investech Limited 1194965 5.43 1194965 5.43

3. Accurate Finman Services Limited 397804 1.81 397804 1.81

4. Rikeen Pradip Dalal 300000 1.36 300000 1.36

5. Equity Intelligence India Private Limited 99150 0.45 99150 0.45

6. Vijay Kumar Singh 73450 0.33 73450 0.33

7. East India Securities Limited 20000 0.09 58000 0.26

8. Sarwankumar Devidutt Saraf - - 53500 0.24

9. Suresh Dindayal Khatri 47000 0.21 47000 0.21

10. Rajeshkumar Rameshbhai Prajapati 47000 0.21 47000 0.21

 Note: Around 94% of the Shares of the Company are held in dematerialized form and are traded on daily basis. Therefore, 
the date wise increase/decrease in shareholding is not indicated.

(v) shareholding of directors and key managerial personnel:
1.  shri ratan chand Jain, director

si. 
no.

for each of the directors 
and kmp

shareholding at the beginning of 
the year (as on 1st april 2018)

cumulative shareholding 
during the year

no. of 
shares

% of total shares of 
the company

no. of 
shares

% of total shares 
of the company

1 shri ratan chand Jain, director

At the beginning of the year 100 0.0 100 0.0

Date wise Increase/Decrease in 
Shareholding during the year NO CHANGE

At the end of the year i.e. 31.03.2019  100 0.0

2.  shri desh Bandhu doda, director

si. 
no.

for each of the directors 
and kmp

shareholding at the beginning 
of the year (as on 1st april 2018)

cumulative shareholding during 
the year

no. of 
shares

% of total shares 
of the company

no. of 
shares

% of total shares of 
the company

1 shri desh Bandhu doda, director

At the beginning of the year 50 0.0 50 0.0

Date wise Increase/Decrease in 
Shareholding during the year NO CHANGE

At the end of the year i.e. 31.03.2019  50 0.0
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 note: Smt. Sharda Devi Singhania, Shri Ram Chandra Periwal, Directors of the company and Shri Manish Bandlish, 
Chief Executive Officer  (appointed w.e.f. 11th June 2018) and Shri C. Venugopal, Chief Executive Officer (ceased w.e.f. 
31st August 2018)  and Shri Diwan Singh, Chief Financial Officer (ceased w.e.f. 30th September 2018) and Shri L.R. Nayak, 
Chief Financial Officer (appointed w.e.f. 1st October 2018) and Shri Pankaj Kamra, Company Secretary of the company 
were not holding any shares in the company at the beginning of the year, i.e. as on 1st April 2018 and at the end of the 
year i.e., as on 31st March 2019 and hence there was no increase/decrease in their shareholding during the year 2018-19.

V. indeBtedness
 indebtedness of the company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment

(` in Lakhs)

 
secured Loans 

excluding deposits
unsecured 

Loans deposits total 
indebtedness

Indebtedness at the beginning of the financial year
i) Principal Amount                    4,605.76                -   -   4,605.76 
ii) Interest due but not paid                                 -   -   -     -   
iii) Interest accrued but not due                  7.75 -   -   7.75 
total (i+ii+iii)                    4,613.51    -   -   4,613.51 
Change in Indebtedness during the financial year
● Addition                   245.38     -   -     245.38 
● Reduction                    1,737.99    -   -   1,737.99 
net change                 (1,492.61)  -   -   (1,492.61)
Indebtedness at the end of the financial year
i) Principal Amount                    3,113.15 -   -   3,113.15 
ii) Interest due but not paid                                 -    -   -        -   
iii) Interest accrued but not due                 10.05     -   -       10.05 
total (i+ii+iii)                    3,123.20     -    -    3,123.20 

Vi. remuneration oF direCtors and keY managerial personnel 
      a.       remuneration to managing director, Whole-time directors and/or manager: not applicable

(` in Lakhs)

B. remuneration to other directors: 

si. 
no.

particulars of remuneration name of directors total  
amount 

1. Independent Directors Shri Ratan Chand Jain Shri Ram Chandra 
Periwal

● Fee for attending Board/Committee Meetings 3.50 4.20 7.70

● Commission 0.50 0.50 1.00

total (1) 4.00 4.70 8.70
2. Other Non-executive Directors Smt.Sharda Devi 

Singhania
Shri Desh Bandhu 

Doda

● Fee for attending Board/ Committee Meetings 0.60 4.93 5.53

● Commission 5.00 0.50 5.50

total (2) 5.60 5.43 11.03
total (B) = (1+2) 19.73

total managerial remuneration (a+B) 19.73

Overall Ceiling as per Act Rs. 71.65 Lakhs (being 11% of the net profit of the Company 
calculated as per section 198 of the companies act, 2013)
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(` in Lakhs)

c. remuneration to key managerial personnel other than md/manager/Wtd                  

si. 
no.

particulars of 
remuneration

key managerial personnel

shri c. 
venugopal, 

chief 
executive 

Officer 
(01.04.2018 to 

31.08.2018)

shri manish 
Bandlish, chief 

executive 
Officer 

(11.06.2018 to 
31.03.2019)

shri diwan 
singh, chief 

financial 
Officer 

(01.04.2018 to 
30.09.2018)

shri L.r. 
nayak,

chief financial 
Officer 

(01.10.2018 to 
31.03.2019)

shri pankaj 
kamra, 

company 
secretary

(01.04.2018 to 
31.03.2019)

total

1 Gross Salary 

(a) Salary as per 
provisions contained 
in section 17(1) of the 
Income-tax Act, 1961

39.27 105.09 14.07 22.72 8.34 189.49

(b) Value of perquisites 
u/s 17(2) Income-tax 
Act, 1961

12.71 0.32 3.11 - - 16.14

(c) Profits in lieu of 
salary under section 
17(3) Income-tax 
Act,1961

- - - - - -

2 Stock Option/Sweat 
Equity/Commission

- - - - - -

3

Others;
Contribution to 
Provident Fund and 
Insurance

1.85 4.43 0.72 0.92 0.41 8.33

total 53.83 109.84 17.90 23.64 8.75 213.96

Vii. penalties / punisHment/ Compounding oF oFFenCes:

 There were no penalties, punishment or compounding of offences during the year ended 31st March, 2019.
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annexure-2

Corporate soCial responsiBilitY report

i.  Company’s Csr philosophy and Belief

 Umang Dairies endeavours to create communities that are economically viable and socially inclusive. Our CSR programmes 
are thus a participatory exercise designed to provide better livelihood opportunities. We also support all National Programs 
that are aimed at uplifting the status of women, livelihood support through micro enterprises, enabling access to healthcare, 
sanitation and education. 

ii. Csr policy

 The Company has been focussing on inclusive growth and it has been undertaking activities aimed at welfare of the society 
in the areas pertaining to Dairy Interest Groups (DIGs), animal welfare, adult literacy among women, free health check-up 
camps etc.

 The Company has framed a CSR Policy as required under Section 135 of the Companies Act 2013.   The details of the CSR 
Policy has been posted on the website of the Company and the web-link for the same is http://www.umangdairies.com/pdf/
CSRPolicy.pdf

iii.  annual report on tHe Csr aCtiVities undertaken BY tHe CompanY during tHe 
FinanCial Year ended 31st marCH 2019

1.  a brief outline of the company’s csr policy, including overview of projects or programs proposed to be 
undertaken and reference to the web-link to the csr policy and projects or programs- 

 The CSR at UDL is focused on creating economic and social well being of the communities around our plant in Gajraula. 
Milk farming traditionally has been a vital component of the local economy and has been a major source of income for the 
poor & landless. 

 The CSR strategy thus identified two key interventions:

a)  provide services for superior animal breeding & nutritional feeds that generate higher yields per animal and enhanced 
milk producing life cycle. 

b)  enable formation of women DIGs an intervention that not only creates income opportunities but also empowers them 
socially.

specific Highlights in each of the activities are provided below:

dairy interest groups

• 623 DIGs comprising 6357 women and 50 men were formed.

• Villages covered 186.

• 505 DIGs were linked to the banks. 

• Members of 505 DIGs were provided with first training on five important aspects of group formation viz., why DIGs, 
monthly meeting, book keeping, bank & credit linkage & role of DIG leaders.

• 271 SHGs have been credit linked after 1st grading with the banks and 41 DIGs have been credit linked after 2nd 
grading with the banks.

• Unsecured loan of Rs. 2.53 crore given by the banks to the DIGs till March 2019.

Farmers Club

• 13 farmer clubs have been mobilised and formed in association with NABARD. 

• One day orientation programme for the members of farmer clubs.

• Trainings for the members of farmers club for organic cultivation.

• Exposure visit for the members of farmers club for Agri Clinic Agri Business Centre at Moradabad to understand the 
process vermin compost and organic cultivation.
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Healthcare & sanitation   

• Awareness & advocacy meetings with women on sanitation & hygiene routinely undertaken. 

2. the composition of the csr committee:

The CSR Committee comprises of the following Directors:

• Shri R. C. Periwal (Chairman of the Committee), Independent Director

• Shri R. C. Jain, Independent Director

• Shri D. B. Doda, Non-Independent Director

3. Average Net Profit of the Company for last three financial years: Rs. 695.00 Lakhs.

4. prescribed csr expenditure (two percent of the amount as in item 3 above): Rs. 13.90 Lakhs.

5. Details of CSR spent during the financial year
a. Total amount to be spent for financial year   :  Rs. 19.07 Lakhs

b. amount unspent, if any       :  Nil

c. Manner in which the amount spent during the financial year is detailed below: 

(` in Lakhs)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

sl. 
no.

csr project 
or activity 
identified

sector in which the 
project is covered

projects or programs 
(1) Local area or other
(2) specify the state 
and district
where projects 
or programs was 
undertaken

amount 
outlay 
(budget) 
project or 
programs 
wise

amount spent 
on the projects 
or programs 
sub-heads: 
(1) direct 
expenditure 
on projects or 
programs. 
(2) overheads:

cumulative 
expenditure 
upto the 
reporting 
period.

amount 
spent:  
direct or 
through 
implementing 
agency

1 Initiative for 
Employability 
& Livelihood 
enhance-
ment activities 
(DIG’s)

Promoting education, 
including special 
education and 
employment enhancing 
vocational skills 
especially among 
children, women, 
elderly, and the 
differently able and 
livelihood enhancement 
projects;

Gajraula, Dist. 
Amroha, Uttar 
Pradesh

18.46 18.05 18.05 SPARSH
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1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

sl. 
no.

csr project 
or activity 
identified

sector in which the 
project is covered

projects or programs 
(1) Local area or other
(2) specify the state 
and district
where projects 
or programs was 
undertaken

amount 
outlay 
(budget) 
project or 
programs 
wise

amount spent 
on the projects 
or programs 
sub-heads: 
(1) direct 
expenditure 
on projects or 
programs. 
(2) overheads:

cumulative 
expenditure 
upto the 
reporting 
period.

amount 
spent:  
direct or 
through 
implementing 
agency

2 Miscellaneous 
Expenses

Promoting education, 
including special 
education and 
employment enhancing 
vocational skills 
especially among 
children, women, 
elderly, and the 
differently able and 
livelihood enhancement 
projects;

Gajraula, Dist. 
Amroha, Uttar 
Pradesh

0.57 1.02 1.02 SPARSH

total 19.03 19.07* 19.07

* An enhanced amount of Rs. 19.07 Lakhs has been spent towards CSR expenditure during the year against the requirement 
of Rs. 13.90 Lakhs.

6. The CSR Committee confirms that the implementation and monitoring of CSR Policy, is in compliance with CSR 
objectives and policy of the company.

place: new delhi (shri d. B. doda) (shri r. c. periwal)
date: 13th may 2019 director chairman, csr committee

(` in Lakhs)
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annexure-3

seCretarial audit report
For tHe FinanCial Year ended 31st marCH, 2019

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members,
umang dairies Limited,
Gajraula-Hasanpur Road, Gajraula – 244235
Dist. Amroha, Uttar Pradesh
I have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good corporate 
practices by Umang Dairies Limited (hereinafter called ‘the Company’). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that 
provided me a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing my opinion thereon.
Based on my verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained 
by the Company and also the information provided by the Company, its officers, agents and authorized representatives during 
the conduct of secretarial audit, I hereby report that in my opinion, the Company has, during the audit period covering the 
financial year ended on 31st March, 2019 (Audit Period), complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that 
the Company has proper Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the 
reporting made hereinafter:
I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records maintained by the Company for the 
financial year ended on 31st March, 2019 according to the provisions of:

(i)  The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder;

(ii)  The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the  rules made thereunder;

(iii)  The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder;

(iv)   Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder to the extent of Foreign Direct 
Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial Borrowings;

(v)  The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI 
Act’):-
 (a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;     
(b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015;
 (c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2009/2018;
(d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014 - (Not applicable 

to the Company during the Audit Period);
(e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008- (Not applicable 

to the Company during the Audit Period);
(f)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 
  regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client; 
(g) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009- (Not applicable to the 

Company during the Audit Period),
(h) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 1998/2018- (Not applicable to the 

Company during the Audit Period); and

(i) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

(vi) Management has identified and confirmed the following laws as being specifically applicable to the company and complied 
with:-

• UP Milk Act, 1976

 • UP Milk and Milk Products Order, 1977 
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• Food Safety and Standards Act, 2006 
I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:

(i) Mandatory Secretarial Standard 1 and Secretarial Standard 2  issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India. 

(ii) The Listing Agreement(s) entered into by the Company with the Stock Exchanges.
During the period under review, the Company has complied with the provisions of the Acts, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. as mentioned above.

i further report that:
The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors 
and Independent Directors, one of whom is an Occupier. The changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that took 
place during the period under review were carried out in compliance with provisions of the Act – Not applicable during the audit 
period

Adequate Notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings. Agenda and detailed notes on agenda were sent at 
least seven days in advance and a system exists for seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda 
items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the Meeting.

All decisions at Board Meetings and Committee Meetings are carried out unanimously as recorded in the Minutes of the Meetings 
of the Board of Directors or Committee of the Board, as the case may be.

I further report that, based on review of compliance mechanism established by the Company and on the basis of compliance 
certificates issued by the Company Executives and taken on record by the Board of Directors and Audit Committee at their 
meetings and stated in the Directors Report, there are adequate systems and processes in the Company commensurate with the 
size and operations of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.   

I further report that, during the audit period, there has been no specific event except that the Company redeemed residual Zero 
Coupon Redeemable Preference Shares of Rs.151 lakhs on due date of 30.06.2018.

this report is to be read alongwith the following-

1.  Maintenance of secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the company. My responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these secretarial records based on my audit.

2.  I have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about the correctness 
of the contents of the Secretarial records. The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected 
in secretarial records. I believe that the processes and practices, I followed provide a reasonable basis for my opinion.

3. I have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of Accounts of the company.

4. Where ever required, I have obtained the Management representation about the compliance of laws, rules and regulations 
and happening of events etc.

5. The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is the responsibility 
of management. My examination was limited to the verification of procedures on test basis.

6. The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the company nor of the efficacy or effectiveness 
with which the management has conducted the affairs of the company.

 

Place: New Delhi             Namo Narain Agarwal
Date:  24th April, 2019                  Secretarial Auditor
                    FCS NO. 234, CP No. 3331
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annexure-4

partiCulars oF ConserVation oF energY, teCHnologY aBsorption and Foreign 
exCHange earnings & outgo in terms oF seCtion 134 (3) (m) oF tHe Companies 
aCt, 2013, read witH Companies (aCCounts) rules, 2014.

a)  ConserVation oF energY:- 
I. These steps taken on conservation / alternate source of energy

a. Further improvement in efficiency of the Turbine power generation by modification of the Turbine nozzles resulting 
into TG power generation from 33% in 17-18 to 38% in 18-19.

b. Higher utilization of cost efficient renewable fuel that has led to reduction in the cost of power and steam despite 
the fuel inflation.

c. Installation of flow meter at Plant Steam line and condensate which resulted in steam and water consumption.

d. Increase in condensate recovery by installation of pH sensor and conductivity meter along with diversion valve 
resulted into upto 63% condensate recover in peak season.

B) teCHnologY aBsorption, adaption and innoVation:- 
Following projects have been initiated, completed and in partly completed during Financial Year 2018-19:-

a. Continuous Butter Making Machine installed and commissioned during the year resulting into better productivity and 
manpower reduction.

b. In Alfa dryer, cyclones are upgraded to reduce the stack losses.

c. Work in progress for installation of high speed packing machine to reduce packing losses and manpower productivity.

C)  researCH & deVelopment
The Company is actively investing on Developing New Products based on consumer needs:

 1. Paneer production is stabilized with higher yield and shelf life extension to 9 months.

2. High yield Skim Milk Powder being developed.

3. Several new products being developed on the basis of customer feedback that will be launched in the test market 
during H1-2019/20.

d) Foreign exCHange earnings and outgo
Foreign Exchange Earnings Nil

Foreign Exchange Outgo  Nil
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annexure-5

disClosure pursuant to seCtion 197(12) oF tHe Companies aCt, 2013 read witH 
rule 5(1) oF tHe Companies (appointment and remuneration oF managerial 
personnel) rules, 2014, For tHe FY 2018-19 ended 31st marCH 2019:

A. The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median remuneration of the employees of the Company:  

si. no. directors ratio to median remuneration
1. Shri R.C. Periwal 1.64

2. Shri D.B. Doda 1.89

3. Shri R.C. Jain 1.39

4. Smt. Sharda Devi Singhania 1.95

 

B. The percentage increase in remuneration of each director, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, company secretary - 
Smt. Sharda Devi Singhania, 366.67%; Sh. R. C. Periwal, 19.75%; Sh. D. B. Doda, 35.96%; Sh. R. C. Jain, 42.86%; Sh. C. 
Venugopal, Chief Executive Officer, Not Applicable (Ceased w.e.f. 31st August 2018), Sh. Manish Bandlish, Chief Executive 
Officer, Not Applicable (Appointed w.e.f. 11th June 2018); Sh. L.R. Nayak, Chief Financial Officer, Not Applicable (Appointed 
w.e.f. 1st October 2018); Sh. Diwan Singh, Chief Financial Officer, Not Applicable (Ceased w.e.f. 30th September 2018) and  
Sh. Pankaj Kamra, Company Secretary, 10.90%. The Remuneration paid to Directors and KMP is available at para VI of 
Form MGT-9 annexed to this report.

C. The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees: 11.43% 

D. The number of permanent employees on the rolls of Company as on 31st March 2019: 318

E. Average percentage increase made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel in the financial year 
2018-19 was 9% whereas the increase in the managerial remuneration for the same financial year: Not Applicable. 

F. We affirm that the remuneration paid during the year 2018-19 is as per the Remuneration Policy for Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel and Senior Management of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

place : new delhi  d.B. doda  r.c. periwal
date   : 13th may 2019 (director) (director)
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Corporate goVernanCe report

1. Company’s philosophy on Code of governance: Corporate Governance is an integral part of values, ethics and 
the best business practices followed by the Company. The core values of the Company are :-

- Commitment to excellence and customer satisfaction

- Maximizing long term shareholders’ value 

- Socially valued enterprise and 

- Caring for people and environment.

 In a nutshell, the philosophy can be described as observing of business practices with the ultimate aim of enhancing long-term 
shareholders’ value and remaining committed to high standards of business ethics. The Company has in place a Code of 
Corporate Ethics and Conduct reiterating its commitment to maintain the highest standards in its interface with stakeholders 
and clearly laying down the core values and corporate ethics to be practised by its entire management cadre.

2.1 Board of directors

 The Board of Directors presently consists of four Non-Executive Directors of which two are Independent Directors. Details 
are as given hereunder:

s.no.^ name of the 
director

category no. of   
Board 

meetings    
attended 
during 

2018-19

Whether 
attended 

last a.g.m.
(19.09.2018)

no. of other directorships and committee 
memberships/ chairmanships held in other 

companies

other 
directorships*

other 
committee 

memberships **

other committee 
chairmanships **

1. Shri R. C. Periwal ∆ Non-Executive 
Independent

4 Yes 1 1 -

2. Shri R.C. Jain ∆ Non-Executive 
Independent

4 Yes - - -

3. Shri D. B. Doda     Non- Executive 
Non-
Independent 

4 Yes - - -

4. Smt. Sharda Devi 
Singhania

Non-Executive 
Non-
Independent

2 No - - -

 ∆ The appointment of Independent Directors is in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (Listing 
Regulations) and in the opinion of the Board they fulfil the conditions specified in the Listing Regulations and are independent 
of the management of the Company.

       * excluding Private Ltd. Companies, Foreign Companies and Companies under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013.
  Independent Directorships held by the Directors are in accordance with the Listing Regulations.

 **  only covers Memberships/Chairmanships of Audit Committee and Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee. 

 ^ DIN of the above named Directors in seriatim: 1. DIN: 00168904, 2. DIN: 00165590, 3. DIN: 00165518 and 4. DIN: 01685496

 At present the Directors of the Company have not elected any permanent Chairman but the Directors present at each 
meeting elect one of the non-executive Directors then present to be the Chairman of the meeting.  However, the Company 
complies with requirement of Regulation 17 of the Listing Regulations, as two out of the four Directors are independent.
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2.2 name of the listed entities where director is a director, 
other than umang dairies Limited:

 Shri R.C. Periwal, Smt. Sharda Devi Singhania, Shri 
R.C. Jain and Shri D.B. Doda, Directors do not hold 
directorships in any listed entity, other than Umang Dairies 
Limited.

 date & number of Board meetings held

 Four Board Meetings were held during the year 2018-19, 
i.e. on 3rd May 2018, 9th August 2018, 3rd November 
2018 and 6th February 2019. 

 The Board periodically reviews Compliance Reports of 
all laws applicable to the Company and has put in place 
procedure to review steps to be taken by the Company 
to rectify instances of non-compliances, if any.

 The Company already has a Code of Conduct in position 
for Management Cadre Staff. In terms of provisions 
of Regulation 17(5) of the Listing Regulations and 
contemporary practices of good corporate governance, 
the Board has laid down a code of conduct for all Board 
Members and Senior Management of the Company and 
the same is available on the website of the Company 
(www.umangdairies.com). All the Board Members and 
Senior Management Personnel have affirmed compliance 
with the said code. This report contains a declaration to 
this effect signed by Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The 
Board is also satisfied that plans are in place for orderly 
succession for appointments to the Board and to senior 
management.

 Relationship between Directors inter-se: None of the 
Directors are related to each other.

3. separate meeting of the independent directors

 In accordance with the provisions of Schedule IV of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 25 of the Listing 
Regulations, a separate meeting of the Independent 
Directors of the Company was held on 6th February 2019. 
Shri R.C. Periwal was unanimously elected as Chairman 
of the meeting and all the Independent Directors of the 
Company were present at the said Meeting.

4. familiarisation programme for independent directors

 In accordance with the provisions of Regulation 25(7) of the 
Listing Regulations, the Company has been conducting 
various familiarization programmes for Independent 
Directors. The details of such familiarisation programmes 
for Independent Directors have been disclosed on 
the website of the Company, the web link for which is: 
http://www.umangdairies.com/pdf/Familiarisation%20
Programme%20of%20INDs.pdf

5.      Board skills, expertise or competence

 The Board of Directors possess appropriate skills, 
experience and knowledge in one or more fields of 
finance, law, management, sales & marketing, operations, 

research, corporate governance, education, community 
service or other disciplines.

6. performance evaluation

 As required, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
of Directors specified the manner for effective evaluation of 
performance of the Board, its Committees and individual 
Directors in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing Regulations.

 Accordingly, the Board of Directors has made formal 
annual evaluation of its own performance and that of 
its committees and Individual Directors in accordance 
with the manner specified by the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of Directors. 

 Performance of the Board was evaluated after seeking 
inputs from all the Directors on the basis of the criteria 
such as adequacy of its composition and structure, 
effectiveness of board processes, information and 
functioning, etc.

 The performance of the committees was evaluated 
by the Board after seeking inputs from the committee 
members on the basis of the criteria such as composition 
of committees, terms of reference of committees, 
effectiveness of the committee meetings, participation of 
the members of the committee in the meetings, etc.

 The Board and the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee also carried out evaluation of the performance 
of individual directors on the basis of criteria such as 
attendance and effective participation and contributions 
at the meetings of the Board and its committees, exercise 
of his/her duties with due & reasonable care, skill and 
diligence, etc.

 In a separate meeting of the Independent Directors of 
the Company, performance of non-independent directors, 
performance of the Board as a whole and performance of 
the Chairman of the meetings of the Board of the Company 
was evaluated taking into account the views of the non- 
executive directors of the Company. The Chairman of the 
Meeting of the Independent Directors apprised the Board 
about the evaluation carried by it and that the Independent 
Directors were satisfied in this regard.

7. audit committee

 The composition and the ‘Terms of Reference’ of the 
Committee are in conformity with the provisions of Section 
177 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 18 of the 
Listing Regulations.

 The Committee presently consists of three Directors, 
out of which two are Independent Directors and one is 
Non-Independent Director. Four meetings of the Audit 
Committee were held during the year 2018 -19 as detailed 
hereunder:

 Dates of the meetings and the number of the Members 
attended are:
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dates of meetings no. of members attended
3rd May 2018 3

9th August 2018 3

3rd November 2018 3

6th February 2019 3

 The names of the Members of the Committee and their 
attendance at the Meetings are as  follows:

name status no. of meetings 
attended

Shri R. C. Jain Member 4

Shri R. C. Periwal Member 4

Shri D.B. Doda Member 4

 The Audit Committee does not have a permanent 
Chairman. The members of the Audit Committee present 
at each meeting elect one of the Independent Director to 
be the Chairman of the meeting. 

 All the Committee Meetings were attended by the Internal 
Auditor, Company Secretary and the representative of 
Statutory Auditor. The Head of Finance Function also 
regularly attends the Committee Meetings. The Company 
Secretary acts as the Secretary of the Committee.

8.1 nomination and remuneration committee

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee presently 
consists of three Directors out of which two are Non 
Executive Independent Directors namely Shri R.C. 
Periwal and Shri R.C. Jain, and  one is Non-Executive 
Non-Independent Director namely Shri D.B. Doda. The 
Composition and the terms of reference of the committee 
are in conformity with the provisions of Section 178 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 19 of the Listing 
Regulations.

 Three meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee were held during the year 2018-19 as detailed 
hereunder:

 Dates of the meetings and the number of the Members 
attended are:

dates of meetings no. of members attended
3rd May 2018 3

9th August 2018 3

6th February 2019 3

 The names of the Members of the Committee and their 
attendance at the Meetings are as follows:

name status no. of meetings 
attended

Shri R.C. Jain Member 3

Shri R.C. Periwal Member 3

Shri D.B. Doda Member 3

 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee does 
not have a permanent Chairman. The members of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee present at each 
meeting elect one of the Independent Director to be the 
Chairman of the meeting. 

8.2 nomination and remuneration policy

 In accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act 2013 and the Listing Regulations, the Company 
has put in place the Nomination and Remuneration 
Policy for the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel 
and Senior Management of the Company including 
criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes, 
independence of a Director as well as a policy on 
Board Diversity. The said policy has been revised by 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the 
Company and is available at the website of the Company 
and the weblink is www.umangdairies.com. The said policy 
provides as follows:

(i) The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
of Directors (the Committee) shall take into 
consideration the following criteria for recommending 
to the Board for appointment as a Director of the 
Company: (a) Qualifications & experience. (b) 
Positive attributes like respect for Company’s core 
values, professional integrity, strategic capability 
with business vision, etc. (c) In case the proposed 
appointee is an Independent Director, he should fulfill 
the criteria for appointment as Independent Director 
as per the applicable laws & regulations. (d) The 
incumbent should not be disqualified for appointment 
as Director pursuant to the provisions of the Act or 
other applicable laws & regulations. 

(ii) The Committee will recommend to the Board 
appropriate compensation to Executive Directors 
and senior management subject to the provisions 
of the Act, Listing Regulations and other applicable 
laws & regulations. The Committee shall periodically 
review the compensation of such Directors in 
relation to other comparable companies and 
other factors, the Committee deems appropriate. 
Proposed changes, if any, in the compensation of 
such Directors shall be reviewed by the Committee 
subject to approval of the Board.

(iii) The Board will review the performance of a Director 
as per the structure of performance evaluation 
adopted by the Board for Directors including 
Executive Directors.

(iv) The Committee will review from time to time Board 
diversity to bring in professional performance 
in different areas of operations, transparency, 
corporate governance, financial management, 
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risk assessment & mitigation strategy and human 
resource management in the Company. The 
Company will keep succession planning and board 
diversity in mind in recommending any new name 
of Director for appointment to the Board.

(v) The eligibility criteria for appointment of Key 
Managerial Personnel (KMPs) and other senior 
management personnel shall vary for different 
positions depending upon the job description of the 
relevant position. In particular, the position of KMPs 
shall be filled by senior personnel having relevant 
qualifications and experience. The Compensation 
structure for KMPs and other senior management 
personnel shall be as per Company’s remuneration 
structure taking into account factors such as level 
of experience, qualification and suitability which 
shall be reasonable and sufficient to attract, retain 
and motivate them. The remuneration would be 
linked to appropriate performance benchmarks. 
The remuneration may consist of fixed and incentive 
pay reflecting short and long-term performance 
objectives appropriate to the working of the Company 
and its goals.

8.3 remuneration paid to the directors

 The Company has paid sitting fees aggregating to Rs. 
13.23 Lacs to all Non-Executive Directors for attending 
the meetings of the Board and/or Committees of Directors 
(including sitting fee for a separate meeting of Independent 
Directors), during the financial year 2018-19. In addition 
to sitting fees, commission of Rs.5 lacs is payable to 
Smt. Sharda Devi Singhania and Rs.0.50 lacs each to 
Shri R.C. Periwal, Shri R.C. Jain and Shri D.B. Doda, 
subject to approval of the Shareholders as per SEBI listing 
Regulations. Number of Equity Shares of Rs. 5/- each of 
the Company held by Non-Executive Directors: Shri D.B. 
Doda (50 Equity Shares) and Shri R.C. Jain (100 Equity 
Shares).

 The Non-Executive Directors did not have any other 
material pecuniary relationship or  transaction vis-a-vis 
the Company during the year.

9. stakeholders’ relationship committee

 The Committee presently consists of three directors 
namely Shri R.C. Periwal (Chairman), Shri R.C. Jain 
and Shri D.B. Doda. The Composition and the ‘Terms of 
Reference’ of the Committee are in conformity with the 
provisions of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and 
Regulation 20 of the Listing Regulations, as amended.

 Four meetings of the said Committee were held during 
the year 2018-19 as detailed here under:

 Dates of the meetings and the number of the Members 
attended are:

dates of meetings no. of members attended
3rd May 2018 3

9th August 2018 3

3rd November 2018 3

6th February 2019 3

 The names of the Members of the Committee and their 
attendance at the Meetings are as follows:

name status no. of meetings 
attended

Shri R. C. Periwal Chairman 4

Shri R. C. Jain Member 4

Shri D.B. Doda Member 4

 Shri Pankaj Kamra, Company Secretary, is the Compliance 
Officer.  

 Three investor complaints were received during the 
financial year ended 31st March 2019, all of which were 
promptly resolved to the satisfaction of the investor 
concerned.

 The Board had delegated the power of share transfer to 
Share Transfer Committee of Directors, which approves 
registration of transfer and transmission of shares in 
physical mode as and when required. All valid requests 
for transfer of shares in physical form were processed in 
time and there were no pending transfers of shares. During 
the year ended 31st March, 2019, 35 meetings of the said 
Share Transfer Committee of Directors were held.

10. general Body meetings

 (i) Location and time for last three Annual General 
Meetings were:

year Location date time
2015-2016 Gajraula 

Hasanpur Road 
Gajraula - 244235  
Distt. Amroha, 
Uttar Pradesh

21.09.2016 11.30 A.M.

2016-2017 Same as above 27.09.2017 11.30 A.M.

2017-2018 Same as above 19.09.2018 11.30 A.M.
          

(ii)   No Special Resolutions were required to be put 
through postal ballot last year.

  None of the businesses proposed to be transacted in 
the ensuing Annual General Meeting require passing 
a special resolution through postal ballot.

(iii) Special Resolutions passed in previous 3 Annual 
General Meetings:

(a) Special Resolution was passed at the last 
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Annual General Meeting of the Company held 
on 19th  September 2018.

(i)  Continuation of Smt. Sharda Devi 
Singhania (DIN: 01685496) to be a Non-
Executive Director of the Company.

(ii)  Continuation of Shri R.C. Periwal (DIN: 
00168904) to be a Non-Executive 
Independent Director of the Company.

(b) Special Resolution was passed at the Annual 
General Meeting of the Company held on 27th  
September 2017.

(i)  to authorize the Board of Directors to borrow 
money upto an amount not exceeding Rs. 100 
Crores.

(ii)  to authorize the Board of Directors to create 
mortgage/charges on the properties of the 
Company in favour of the lenders upto an 
amount not exceeding Rs. 100 Crores.

(c) Special Resolution was passed at the Annual 
General Meeting of the Company held on 21st 
September 2016.

(i)  Re-appointment of Shri R. C. Jain (DIN: 
00165590), as an Independent Director, for a 
further term of five consecutive years. 

11. discLosures: 

(i)  Related Party Transactions: Disclosures on 
materially significant related party transactions that 
may have potential conflict with the interests of 
company at large: None

  All the Related Party Transactions are dealt with in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Regulation 23 of the Listing Regulations.

  The Company has also formulated a policy on dealing 
with Related Party Transactions and also on the 
materiality of Related Party Transactions. This Policy 
is available on the website of the Company and the 
weblink for the same is http://www.umangdairies.
com/pdf/RelatedPartyTransactionPolicy.pdf

  Suitable disclosure as required by Indian Accounting 
Standard (IndAs)-24 on Related Party transactions 
has been made in the Annual Report.

(ii) Details of non-compliance by the company, penalties, 
strictures imposed on the company by Stock 
Exchange or SEBI or any statutory authority, on any 
matter related to capital markets, during the last three 
years: None

(iii) Vigil Mechanism/Whistle Blower Policy: The Board 
of Directors of the Company at its meeting held on 
7th August 2014 has formulated a Vigil Mechanism/ 

the Whistle Blower Policy for the Directors and 
Employees of the Company to report their genuine 
concerns or grievances relating to actual or 
suspected fraud, unethical behaviour, violation of 
the Company’s Code of Conduct or Ethics Policy, 
and any other event which would adversely affect 
the interests of the business of the Company. Whistle 
Blowers may send their concerns/complaints to the 
Chairman of Audit Committee in a sealed envelope 
marked confidential, for appropriate action. 

  The details of establishment of such mechanism 
have been also disclosed on the website of the 
Company. It is affirmed that no personnel has been 
denied access to the Audit Committee.

(iv)  Prevention of Sexual Harassment of Women at 
Workplace: Your Company is sensitive to women 
employees at workplace.  As required under the 
Sexual Harassment of Women at the Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013, 
the Company has a formal policy to ensure safety 
of women and prevention of sexual harassment 
and has set up a Complaint Committee at its 
work place(s) to redress the complaints of women 
employees and requisite disclosures in relation 
thereto are as under:

a. Number of complaints filed during the financial year: 
NIL

b. Number of complaints disposed of during the 
financial year: NIL

c. Number of complaints pending as on end of the 
financial year: NIL

(v) Risk Management: The Company has an elaborate 
risk management system to inform Board Members 
about risk assessment and minimization procedures. 
These procedures are being periodically reviewed 
to ensure that executive management controls risk 
through means of a properly defined framework.

(vi) Disclosure of commodity price risks and commodity 
hedging activities: The Company is not subject to 
commodity price risk and therefore was not required 
to undertake any commodity hedging activities in this 
regard.

(vii) A certificate has been issued by Shri Namo Narain 
Agarwal, Company Secretary in practice that none 
of the directors on the board of the company have 
been debarred or disqualified from being appointed 
or continuing as directors of companies by the SEBI/
Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such statutory 
authority.

(viii) There were no instances where the Board had not 
accepted any recommendation of any Committees 
of the Board during the financial year ended  31st 
March 2019.
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(ix) During the Financial Year ended 31st March 2019, 
the Company has paid total fees for various services 
including statutory audit, amounting to Rs. 5.35 lacs, 
to the Statutory Auditor, namely M/s Singhi & Co., 
Chartered Accountants and all entities in the network 
firm/network entity of which the statutory auditor is a 
part.

(x)  Subsidiary Companies: During the year, the 
Company did not have any subsidiary.

  The  Company  has  formulated  a  policy  for  
determining  material  subsidiary  as required  under  
Regulation  16  of  the  Listing  Regulations  and  the  
same  is      disclosed on the Company’s Website. 
The web link is http://www.umangdairies.com/pdf/
Policy%20for%20Determining%20Material%20
Subsidiary.pdf

  During the year, the Company did not have any 
material unlisted subsidiary as defined in Regulation 
16 of the Listing Regulations.

(xi) Corporate Social Responsibility Committee: The 
Company has a ‘Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee of Directors’ which comprises of three 
Directors out of which two are Independent Directors. 
The composition and role of the Committee are in 
conformity with the provisions of Section 135 of 
the Companies Act, 2013. Two Meetings of the 
Committee were held during the financial year 
ended 31st March 2019 i.e., on 3rd May 2018 and 
6th February 2019.

 The names of the Members of the Committee and their 
attendance at the Meetings are as follows:

name status no. of meetings 
attended

Shri R. C. Periwal Chairman 2

Shri R. C. Jain Member 2

Shri D.B. Doda Member 2

12. means of communication:  Quarterly, half yearly and 
annual financial results are normally published in English 
Newspaper Business Standard/Mint and Business 
Standard, Lucknow Edition, Hindustan Moradabad in 
Hindi and are promptly furnished to the Stock Exchange 
for display on their respective websites. The results are 

also displayed on the website of the company “www.
umangdairies.com”. ‘Management Discussion & Analysis’ 
forms part of the Annual Report.

 Presentations made to the institutional investors or to the 
analysts, if any, are promptly displayed on the website of 
the Company. 

13.    general shareholders’ information:

 (i) annual general meeting (agm):
 (a) Date and Time : 19th September 2019
  Venue : Gajraula Hasanpur Road, 
    Gajraula – 244 235 
    Distt. Amroha, Uttar Pradesh

 (b) A brief resume and other particulars of Director(s) 
seeking re-appointment at the aforesaid AGM are 
given in the Notes to the Notice convening the said 
Meeting

 (ii) Book closure :  13th September 2019 to
    19th September 2019
    (both days inclusive)

 (iii) dividend 
  payment date : Within three weeks from AGM

 (iv) financial 
  calendar : Year Ending March 31
  Annual General  Between June and
  Meeting for the  September 2020
  year ending 
  March 31, 2020                 

(v) name and address of stock exchanges (including 
stock code) where equity shares of the company 
are listed: The Equity Shares of the Company are 
listed on the following Stock Exchanges :

BSE Limited
(Stock Code-500231)
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy 
Towers, Dalal Street
Mumbai – 400 001

National Stock 
Exchange of India Ltd. 
(Stock Code – 
UMANGDAIRY)
“Exchange Plaza”
Bandra-Kurla Complex, 
Bandra (East)
Mumbai-400 051

 The annual listing fee for the financial year 2019-20 has 
been paid to both the aforesaid Stock Exchanges.
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(vi) stock market price data:

month stock market price on Bse Limited (Bse) stock market price on national stock 
exchange of india Ltd. (nse)

high(`) Low(`) closing price of 
Bse sensex (`) 

high(`) Low(`) closing price 
of nse nifty (`)

2018

April 95.10 74.45 35160.36 95.50 74.70 10739.35

May 97.60 84.80 35322.38 99.90 84.50 10736.15

June 89.20 73.05 35423.48 89.90 72.55 10714.30

July 84.70 73.10 37606.58 84.70 73.70 11356.50

August 92.40 72.50 38645.07 92.95 71.55 11680.50

September 81.95 60.80 36227.14 82.20 60.05 10930.45

October 68.00 54.50 34442.05 67.50 54.30 10386.60

November 74.60 58.50 36194.30 73.50 57.75 10876.75

December 62.25 54.15 36068.33 62.40 53.20 10862.55

2019

January 65.00 51.00 36256.69 64.70 50.75 10830.95

February 57.00 44.05 35867.44 58.05 44.70 10792.50

March 61.00 46.60 38672.91 60.95 46.45 11623.90

(Source : www.bseindia.com)                ( Source: www.nseindia.com)

(vii) umang dairies Ltd.’s share performance vs. Bse 
sensex and nse nifty (april 2018 to march 2019)

(viii) dematerialisation of shares and liquidity:

 The Equity Shares of the Company are presently tradable 
in compulsory demat segment. The ISIN No. for Equity 
Shares of the Company for both the depositories is 
INE864B01027. As on 31st March 2019, 94.14% of the 
Company’s Equity Share Capital was in dematerialised 
form.  

 In respect of Shares held in electronic form, all the requests 
for nomination, change of address and rematerialisation 
etc. are to be made only to the Depository Participant 
with whom the Shareholders have opened their Demat 
Account.  The Company will not be in a position to process 
such requests.

(ix) share transfer system:

 The transmission of shares in physical form is normally 
processed and completed within 15 days from the date 
of receipt thereof. In case of shares in electronic form, 
the transfers are processed by NSDL/CDSL through the 
respective Depository Participants. Pursuant to SEBI 
notification dt. 30th November 2018 read with Regulation 
40 of Listing Regulations except in case of transmission or 
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transposition of securities, requests for effecting transfer 
of shares shall not be processed unless the shares are 
held in the dematerialized form with a depository.   

(x) (a) distribution equity of shareholding (both in 
physical and electronic form) as on 31st march, 2019:

number of 
equity shares 
held

shareholders shares held

number % number %

1 to 500 19737 93.79 2383156 10.83

501 to 1,000 660 3.14 550635 2.50

1,001 to 5,000 556 2.64 1172046 5.33

5,001 to 10,000 56 0.27 395330 1.80

Over 10,000 35 0.16 17502033 79.54

total 21044 100.00 22003200 100.00

(b) pattern of equity shareholding (both in physical and 
electronic form) as on 31st march, 2019:

category no. of 
equity 

shares held

percentage 
of share 
holding

Domestic Companies 16761701 76.18

Resident Individuals 
& Trusts

5077946 23.08

FIs, Mutual Funds, 
Banks/NBFCs

16070 0.07

Foreign Investors/ 
FIIs / NRIs

147483 0.67

   total   22003200 100
    

(xi) outstanding gdrs / adrs / Warrants or any other 
convertible instrument, conversion date and likely 
impact on equity:

 There are no outstanding GDRs/ ADRs/ Warrants or any 
other Convertible Instruments. As such there will be no 
impact on the equity.

(xii)  commodity price risk or foreign exchange risk and 
hedging activities:

 The Company is not subject to commodity price risk or 
foreign exchange risk and  therefore was not required to 
undertake any hedging activities in this regard. 

(xiii) plant locations:

 umang dairies Limited
 Gajraula Hasanpur Road, Gajraula – 244 235 
 Distt. Amroha, Uttar Pradesh.

(xiv) address for correspondence for 

 share transfer and related matters: 
1.   registrar & share transfer agents:
  MAS Services Ltd.
  T-34, IInd Floor, Okhla Industrial Area
  Phase – II, New Delhi – 110 020
  Ph. 011-26387281/82
  E-mail: info@masserv.com 

  Website: www.masserv.com

2. company secretary
 umang dairies Limited
 Gulab Bhawan (Rear Block – 3rd Floor)
 6A, Bahadur Shah Zafar Marg
 New Delhi – 110 002
 Ph. 011- 3017977, 
 Fax No. 011- 23739475
 E-mail: csudl@jkmail.com
 Website: www.umangdairies.com

(xv) List of all credit ratings obtained by the company 
along with any revisions thereto during the financial 
year ended 31st march 2019:

 During the year under review, ICRA Limited has 
maintained the Credit Rating in respect of Company’s 
Long Term and Short Term Bank Facilities at [ICRA]BBB-. 
The Outlook on the long term rating is Stable.

(xvi) This Corporate Governance Report of the Company for the 
financial   year   ended 31st March 2019 are in compliance 
with the requirements of Corporate  Governance under the 
Listing Regulations, as applicable.

(xvii) Adoption of discretionary requirements specified in Part E 
of Schedule II of the Listing Regulations- (a) Shareholder 
Rights: Half-yearly and other quarterly financial statements 
are published in newspapers and uploaded on Company’s 
website www.umangdairies.com. At present, the half 
yearly financial performance and the summary of the 
significant events in last six months are not sent to each 
household of shareholders; (b) Modified opinion(s) in audit 
report: The financial statements of the Company for the 
year ended 31st March 2019 are with unmodified audit 
opinion; (c) Separate posts of Chairperson and CEO: At 
present the Directors of the Company have not elected 
any permanent Chairman but the Directors present at each 
meeting elect one of the non-executive Directors then 
present to be the Chairman of the meeting and Sh. Manish 
Bandlish is the CEO of the Company; and (d) Reporting of 
Internal Auditor: Internal Auditor of the Company reports 
to the Audit Committee and Internal Audit Reports are 
placed before the Audit Committee.

(xviii) The Company has complied with all the applicable 
requirements specified in Regulations 17 to 27 and 
clauses (b) to (i) of sub–regulation (2) of Regulation 46 
of the Listing Regulations.
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(xix) disclosure with respect to demat suspense account/ 
unclaimed suspense account 

 The Company does not have any amount lying with 
respect to demat suspense account/unclaimed suspense 
account.

14. declaration:

 It is hereby declared that all the members of the Board and 
Senior Management personnel have affirmed compliance 
with the “Code of Conduct for Members of the Board and 
Senior Management of Umang Dairies Limited” during the 
Financial Year ended 31st March 2019.

Manish Bandlish
Chief Executive Officer

15. code for prevention of insider trading: 

 In accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015, 
as amended, the Board of Directors of the Company has 
adopted (i) the Code of Practices and Procedures for Fair 
Disclosure of Unpublished Price Sensitive Information 
and (ii) the Code of Conduct to Regulate, Monitor and 
Report Trading by Designated Persons in terms of the 
said Regulations.
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auditor’s CertiFiCate on Corporate goVernanCe

to

the members of umang dairies Limited,

We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Umang Dairies Limited (‘the Company’), for the 
year ended March 31, 2019 as per the relevant provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (‘Listing Regulations’) as referred to Regulation 15(2) of the Listing Regulations.

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Management.   Our examination was  carried out 
in accordance with the Guidance Note on Certificate of Corporate Governance, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India  and  limited to procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the 
conditions of Corporate Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the 
Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, we certify that the Company 
has complied in all material respect with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above-mentioned Listing 
Regulations.

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or 
effectiveness with which the Management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

for singhi & co.
chartered accountants
firm reg. no. 302049e  

B. k. sipani
partner

membership no. 0088926      

place: new delhi
date: 13th may, 2019
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Financial
Section
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report on the audit of the financial statements

opinion

We have audited the accompanying Financial statements 
of Umang Dairies Ltd. (“the Company”), which comprise the 
Balance sheet as at March 31 2019, the Statement of Profit 
and Loss (including the statement of Other Comprehensive  
Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash 
Flow Statement for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant ac-
counting policies and other explanatory information (hereinaf-
ter referred to as “the financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and accord-
ing to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid financial  
statements give the information required by the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true 
and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company 
as at March 31, 2019, its profit including other comprehensive 
income, the changes in equity and its cash flows for the year 
ended on that date. 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit of the Financial statements in ac-
cordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), as specified 
under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under 
those Standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s Re-
sponsibilities for the Audit of the Financial statements’ sec-
tion of our report. We are independent of the Company in 

independent auditor’s report

to the members of umang dairies Limited

accordance with the ‘Code of Ethics’ issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical re-
quirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial state-
ments under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereun-
der, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. 
We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
financial statements.

key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the finan-
cial statements of the current period. These matters were ad-
dressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements 
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have deter-
mined the matters described below to be the key audit matters 
to be communicated in our report.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report, including in relation to these matters. According-
ly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed 
to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstate-
ment of the financial statements. The results of our audit pro-
cedures, including the procedures performed to address the 
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
accompanying financial statements.

s.n. key audit matter auditor’s response 
1. revenue recognition 

For the financial year ended 31 March, 
2019, the Company has recorded revenue 
amounting to Rs. 22465.03 Lakhs. 
The accounting policies for revenue 
recognition are set out in Note 1 to the 
financial statements and the different 
revenue streams of the Company have 
been disclosed in Note 23 to the financial 
statements. We have identified sales cut-
off to be significant because of the high 
volume of transactions and the varying 
sales, contractual and shipping terms. 
Revenue recognition is susceptible to the 
higher risk that the revenue is recognised 
when the control of goods has not been 
transferred to the customers. 

how our audit addressed the key audit matter:

We assessed the overall sales process and the relevant systems 
and the design of controls over the capture and recording of revenue 
transactions. We have tested the effectiveness of controls on the 
processes related to revenue recognition relevant to our audit. We 
performed sample testing on revenue and checked that the revenue 
recognition criteria are appropriately applied. We have also performed 
cut-off tests to ensure the Company has complied with proper cut-off 
procedures and revenue is recognised in the appropriate accounting 
period.  

our observation:

We found the Company’s revenue recognition to be consistent with its 
accounting policy as disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements. 
We are satisfied that the Company’s revenue has been appropriately 
recognised and in the relevant accounting period.
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other information

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Annual report, but does not include the finan-
cial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have ob-
tained all other information prior to the date of this auditors’ 
report. 

Our opinion on the Financial statements does not cover the 
other information and we do not express any form of assur-
ance conclusion thereon. 

2. valuation of trade receivables 

We refer to Note 1 and Note 7 to the 
financial statements. As disclosed in 
Notes to the financial statements, the 
Company assesses periodically and at 
each financial year end, the expected 
credit loss associated with its receivables. 
When there is expected credit loss , the 
amount and timing of future cash flows are 
estimated based on historical, current and 
forward-looking loss experience for assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics. 

The carrying amount of trade receivables 
of the Company was Rs.1119.25 Lakhs 
as at March 31, 2019. We focused on this 
area because of its significance and the 
degree of judgement required to  estimate 
the expected credit loss and determining 
the carrying amount of trade and other 
receivables as at the reporting date. 

how our audit addressed the key audit matter:

We obtained an understanding of the Company’s credit policy for trade 
receivables and evaluated the processes for identifying credit loss 
indicators. We have reviewed and tested the ageing of trade receivables 
and management’s assessment on the credit worthiness of selected 
customers for trade receivables. We further discussed with the key 
management on the adequacy and appropriateness of the allowance 
for credit losses recorded by the company and reviewed the supporting 
documents provided by management in relation to their assessment. 

our observation:

Based on our audit procedures performed, we found management’s 
assessment of expected credit loss and recoverability of trade 
receivables to be reasonable and the disclosures to be appropriate.

3. valuation of inventories 

We refer to Note 6 and 1 to the financial 
statements. 

As at March 31, 2019, the total carrying 
amount of inventories was Rs. 3146.66 
lakhs. The assessment of impairment of 
inventories involves significant estimation 
uncertainty, subjective assumptions and 
the application of significant judgment.

Reviews are made periodically by 
management on inventories for 
obsolescence and decline in net realizable 
value below cost. Allowances are recorded 
against the inventories for any such 
declines based on historical obsolescence 
and slow- moving history. Key factors 
considered include the nature of the stock, 
its ageing, shelf life and turnover rate.

how our audit addressed the key audit matter:

We have checked and analyzed the ageing of the inventories, reviewed 
the historical trend on whether there were significant inventories 
written off or reversal of the allowances’ for inventory obsolescence. 
We conducted a detailed discussion with the key management and 
considered their views on the adequacy of allowances for inventory 
obsolescence considering the current economic environment. We have 
also reviewed the subsequent selling prices in the ordinary course of 
business and compared against the carrying amounts of the inventories 
on a sample basis at the reporting date.

our observations: 

We found management’s assessment of the allowance for inventory 
obsolescence and valuation of inventories to be reasonable based on 
available evidence.

In connection with our audit of the Financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsis-
tent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information; we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.
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responsibilities of management for the financial  
statements

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the mat-
ters stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the 
Act”) with respect to the preparation of these Financial state-
ments that give a true and fair view of the financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows of the Company in ac-
cordance with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, including the Accounting Standards specified under 
Section  133 of the Act, read  with  the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. This re-
sponsibility also includes maintenance of adequate account-
ing records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing 
and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and 
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judg-
ments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting  records, 
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Financial statements, management is re-
sponsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of account-
ing unless management either intends to liquidate the Com-
pany or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting process.

auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from ma-
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to is-
sue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be ex-
pected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)
(i) of the Companies Act 2013, we are also responsible 
for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has 
adequate internal financial controls system in place and 
the operating effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the Financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the Financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regard-
ing, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a state-
ment that we have complied with relevant ethical require-
ments regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where appli-
cable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such com-
munication.



umang dairies limited

35annual report 2018-19

report on other Legal and regulatory requirements
1. As required by the Companies’ (Auditor’s Report) 

Order, 2016 (“the Order”) issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section 
(11) of section 143 of the Act, we give in the 
Annexure-A statements on the matters specified in 
the paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order.

2. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report 
that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and 
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.    

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law have been kept by the Company so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books. 

(c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and 
Loss, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Cash flow Statement dealt with by this Report are 
in agreement with the books of account.

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements 
comply with the Indian Accounting Standards  (Ind 
AS) read with the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended, specified 
under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of 
the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2013. 

(e) On the basis of written representations received from 
the directors as on March 31, 2019 taken on record 
by the Board of Directors, none of the directors 
is disqualified as on March 31, 2019 from being 
appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) 
of the Act. 

(f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls with reference to financial statements of the 
Company and the operating effectiveness of such 

controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure 
B” to this report;

(g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the 
Auditor’s Report in accordance with the requirements 
of section 197(16) of the Act, as amended: In our 
opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, the 
remuneration paid /provided by the Company to its 
directors during the year is in accordance with the 
provisions of section 197 of the Act.

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, 
as amended in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given 
to us:

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending 
litigations on its financial     position in its financial 
statements — Refer Note 32 to the financial 
statements;

ii. The Company did not have material foreseeable 
losses in long-term contracts including derivative 
contracts;

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, 
required to be transferred, to the Investor Education 
and Protection Fund by the Company.

for singhi & co.
chartered accountants
firm reg. no. 302049e

place: new delhi                B. k. sipani
date: 13th may, 2019        partner

membership no. 088926
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annexure-a

annexure a referred to in paragraph 1 of our report 
of even date on the other legal and regulatory 
requirements (re: umang dairies limited)
(i)  (a) The Company has maintained proper records  

           showing full particulars, including quantitative details  
           and situation of property, plant and equipment except  
           in case of certain assets where the same is in process  
        of updation.

(b)   The Company has a regular programme of physical 
verification of its property, plant and equipment by 
which property, plant and equipment are verified in a 
phased manner over a period of three years, which 
in are opinion, is reasonable having regard to the 
size of the company and nature it’s property, plant 
and equipment. In accordance with this programme, 
property, plant and equipment were not physically 
verified during the year. 

(c)   According to information and explanations given 
by the management, the title deeds of immovable            
properties included in property, plant and equipment 
are held in the name of the Company.

(ii) The management has conducted physical verification 
of inventories except stock in transit during the year at 
reasonable interval and material discrepancies noticed on 
such physical verification have been properly dealt with in 
the books of accounts.

(iii)  The Company has not granted any loan to companies, 
firms, limited liability partnership or other parties covered 
in the register maintained under section 189 of the 
Companies’ Act, 2013. Therefore, the provisions of clause 
3(iii) of the Order are not applicable.

(iv) The Company has no transaction with respect to loan, 
investment, guarantee and security covered under section 
185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 2013. Therefore, the 
provisions of clause 3(iv) of the Order are not applicable.

(v) The Company has not accepted any deposits covered 
under section 73-76 of the Companies Act’2013 during 
the year. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(v) of the 
Order are not applicable to the Company. 

(vi)    We have broadly reviewed the books of account 
maintained by the Company pursuant to the rules made 
by the Central Government for the maintenance of cost 
records under section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 
in respect of the Company’s products to which the said 
rules are applicable and are of the opinion that prima facie, 
the prescribed records have been made and maintained. 
We have, however, not made a detailed examination of 
the said records with a view to determine whether they 
are accurate or complete.

(vii)  (a) According to the records of the Company, the 
Company is generally regular in depositing undisputed 

statutory dues including Provident Fund, Employee’s 
State Insurance, Income-tax, Goods and Service Tax, 
Sales-tax, Service Tax, Duty of customs, Duty of excise, 
Value Added Tax, Cess and other material statutory dues 
with the appropriate authorities. There was no undisputed 
outstanding statutory dues as at the yearend for a period of 
more than six months from the date they became payable 
except Mandi Tax of Rs. 6.23 Lakhs.

        (b). According to the records of the Company there are no 
dues outstanding on account of Income-tax, Sales-tax, 
Value Added Tax, Service Tax, Duty of customs, Duty of 
excise and Cess on account of any dispute except the 
followings:

name 
of 

statue

nature of 
dues

amount 
rs. in 
Lakhs

period forum 
where 

dispute is 
pending

Sales-
tax Act

Sales Tax 
Demand/ 
Penalty/ 
Interest

1.78
1994-95 
/ 1998-
2000

Sales tax 
Tribunal

40.65 1995-
2007

Appellate 
Authorities

3.00 1995-96 High Court

41.74 2010-
2015

Appellate 
Authorities

Income 
Tax Act, 

1961

Disallowances 
of Income Tax 901.45

2011-12 
to 2013-

14
CIT Appeals

(viii) The Company has not defaulted in repayment of dues to 
bank. The Company did not have any borrowing from any 
financial institution or Government and dues to debenture 
holders. 

(ix) During the year, the Company did not raise any money by 
way of initial public offer or further public offer (including 
debt instruments). Further in our opinion and explanations 
given to us, term loans raised during the year were applied 
for the purpose for which loans were raised.

(x) Based upon the audit procedures performed for the 
purpose of reporting the true and fair view of the financial 
statements and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, no fraud by the Company or no 
fraud on the Company by its officers and employees has 
been noticed or reported during the year.

(xi) According to the information and explanations given by 
the management, managerial remuneration has been 
paid/provided in accordance with the requisite approvals 
mandated by the provision of the section 197 read with 
Schedule V to the Companies Act, 2013.

(xii) In our opinion the Company is not a nidhi company. 
Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(xii) of the Order are 
not applicable. 

(xiii) According to the information and explanations given by 
the management transaction with related parties are in 
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compliance with sections 177 and 188 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 wherever applicable and details for the same 
have been disclosed in the financial statements as 
required by the applicable Indian Accounting Standards.

(xiv) According to the information and explanations give to 
us and based on our examination of the records of the 
Company, the Company has not made any preferential 
allotment or private placement of shares or fully or partly 
convertible debentures during the year. Therefore, the 
provisions of clause 3(xiv) of the Order are not applicable.

(xv) According to the information and explanations given by 
the management , the Company has not entered into non-
cash transactions with directors or persons connected with 

directors. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(xv) of the 
Order are not applicable.

 (xvi) The Company is not required to be registered under 
section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act 1934.

for singhi & co.
chartered accountants
firm reg. no. 302049e

place: new delhi                B. k. sipani
date: 13th may, 2019        partner

membership no. 088926
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We have audited the internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements of Umang Dairies Limited (‘the 
Company”) as of March 31, 2019 in conjunction with our audit 
of the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
on that date. 
management’s responsibility for internal financial 
controls
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing 
and maintaining internal financial controls based on the 
internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components 
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence 
to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the 
prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial information, as required under 
the Companies Act, 2013. 
auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting (the “guidance Note”) and the 
standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be 
prescribed under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, 
to the extent applicable to as audit of internal financial controls, 
both applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls and, 
both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
Those standards and the Guidance Note require that we 
comply with ethical requirements of and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
was established and maintained and if such controls operated 
effectively in all material respects. 
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls 
system with reference to financial statements and their 
operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls 
with reference to financial statements included obtaining an 
understanding of internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on 
the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system 
with reference to financial statements.

meaning of internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements
A Company’s internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal; financial control 
with reference to financial statements includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being 
made only in accordance with authorization of management 
and directors of the company ; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. 
inherent Limitations of internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements 
Because of the inherent limitations of Internal Financial 
controls with reference to financial statements, including the 
possibility of collusion or improper management override 
of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud 
may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements to future periods are subject to the risk 
that the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate. 
opinion
In our opinion the Company has, in all material respects, an 
adequate internal financial controls system with reference to 
financial statements and such internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements were operating effectively 
as at March 31, 2019, based on the internal control over 
the financial reporting criteria established by the company 
considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India, however same need to be 
further strengthened.

for singhi & co.
chartered accountants

firm’s reg no. 302049e

B. k. sipani
place: new delhi        partner
date: 13 may, 2019            membership no.088926

annexure - B
report on the internal financial controls under clause (i) of sub-section 3 of section 143 of the companies act, 

2013 (“the act”)
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BalanCe sHeet as at 31st marCH, 2019
(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise)

s.no. particulars note 
no.

 as at  
31st march, 2019 

 as at  
31st march, 2018 

a assets
(1) non-current assets

(a) Property, Plant and Equipment 2  7,400.49  7,072.35 
(b) Capital work-in-progress  349.61  434.80 
(c) Other Intangible Assets 3  21.82  25.62 
(d) Financial Assets
     (i) Other Financial Assets 4  63.71  63.63 
(e) Other non-current assets 5  81.61  48.69 

sub total  7,917.24  7,645.09 
(2) current assets

(a) Inventories 6  3,146.66  3,718.06 

(b) Financial Assets
(i) Trade receivables 7  1,119.25  1,241.85 
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 8  33.17  39.69 
(iii) Other Bank Balances other than (ii) above 9  43.64  39.32 
(iv) Other Financial Assets 10  21.08  17.88 

(c) Current Tax Assets (Net)  406.16  421.54 
(d) Other current assets 11  162.26  197.90 

sub total  4,932.22  5,676.24 
totaL assets  12,849.46  13,321.33 

B eQuity and LiaBiLities
(1) equity

(a) Equity Share Capital 12  1,100.16  1,100.16 
(b) Other Equity  4,633.24  4,192.80 

sub total  5,733.40  5,292.96 
(2) LiaBiLities
(i) non-current Liabilities

(a) Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 13  500.03  797.25 
(ii) Other Financial Liabilities 14  11.00  11.00 

(b) Provisions 15  207.33  180.94 
(c) Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 16  762.99  733.04 
(d) Other non-current liabilities 17  971.06  974.01 

sub total  2,452.41  2,696.24 
(ii) current Liabilities

(a) Financial Liabilities
(i) Borrowings 18  2,126.12  3,348.25 
(ii) Trade payables

Total Outstanding Dues of Micro and Small Enterprises 19  -  - 
Total Outstanding Dues of Creditors other than Micro and 
Small Enterprises

19  1,028.20  722.16 

(iii) Other Financial Liabilities 20  1,204.88  997.21 
(b) Other current liabilities 21  297.83  258.53 
(c) Provisions 22  6.62  5.98 

sub total  4,663.65  5,332.13 
totaL eQuity and LiaBiLities  12,849.46  13,321.33 

Significant Accounting Policies and other notes on financial statements         1-41
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

As per our Report of even date attached.
For Singhi & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Reg No. 302049E

B. K. Sipani
Partner 

M.No. 088926 
New Delhi, the 13th day of May, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Sharda Devi Singhania
(Director)

L.R. Nayak
(Chief Financial Officer)

Ram Chandra Periwal
(Director)

Manish Bandlish
(Chief Executive Officer)

Pankaj Kamra 
(Company Secretary)

Desh Bandhu Doda
        (Director)

Ratan Chand Jain
(Director)
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statement oF proFit and loss For tHe Year ended 31st marCH, 2019
(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise) 

s. no. particulars note no.  for the year 
ended 31st 

march, 2019 

 for the year 
ended 31st   

march, 2018 
I. Revenue from operations 23  22,465.03  24,528.54 
II. Other income 24  111.95  47.47 
III. total income (i+ii)  22,576.98  24,576.01 

IV. expenses
Cost of materials consumed 25  13,583.30  16,349.07 
Change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress 26  314.24  349.16 
Excise duty  -    0.12 
Employee benefits expense 27  2,293.90  2,180.93 
Finance costs 28  402.97  373.74 
Depreciation and amortization expense  358.98  358.95 
Other expenses 29  4,969.85  4,353.60 
total expenses (iv)  21,923.24  23,965.57 

V. Profit before tax (III-IV)  653.74  610.44 
VI. Tax Expense

(1) Current Tax 30  120.00  115.56 
(2a) Deferred Tax  16                       48.36                                 93.12 
(2b) MAT Credit Entitlement                         (19.23)                            (125.30)

VII. Profit for the year (V-VI)  504.61  527.06 
VIII. other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Re-measurement Gain/(Losses) on defined benefit plans  2.95  12.94 
Tax on above  (0.82)  (4.28)
total other comprehensive income  2.13  8.66 

IX. total comprehensive income for the year (vii+viii)  506.74  535.72 
X. earnings per equity share of rs. 5 each

Basic and Diluted 31  2.29  2.40 

significant Accounting Policies and other notes on financial statements        1-41
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

As per our Report of even date attached.
For Singhi & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Reg No. 302049E

B. K. Sipani
Partner 

M.No. 088926 
New Delhi, the 13th day of May, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Sharda Devi Singhania
(Director)

L.R. Nayak
(Chief Financial Officer)

Ram Chandra Periwal
(Director)

Manish Bandlish
(Chief Executive Officer)

Pankaj Kamra 
(Company Secretary)

Desh Bandhu Doda
        (Director)

Ratan Chand Jain
(Director)
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statement oF CHanges in equitY For tHe Year ended 31st marCH, 2019
(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise) 

a share capital
particulars  as at 

01.04.2017 
changes 
in equity 

share 
capital 

during the 
year

 as at 
31.03.2018 

changes 
in equity 

share 
capital 

during the 
year

 as at 
31.03.2019 

Equity Shares - 2,20,03,200 of Rs. 5 each 
fully paid up

 1,100.16  -  1,100.16  -  1,100.16 

Balance at the end of the year  1,100.16  -  1,100.16  -  1,100.16 

B other equity
particulars capital 

redemption 
reserve

retained earnings other 
comprehensive 

income

total 
other 
equity

general 
reserve

surplus in 
statement 
of Profit & 

Loss

remeasure-
ment of defined 

benefit plans

as at 31st march, 2017  208.00  500.00  2,958.15  (9.06)  3,657.08 
Profit for the year  -  -  527.06  -  527.06 
Other comprehensive income (Net of Taxes)  -  -  -  8.66  8.66 
Transfer to General Reserve  -  50.00  (50.00)  -  - 
Transfer to Capital Redemption Reserve  151.00  -  (151.00)  - 
as at 31st march, 2018  359.00  550.00  3,284.21  (0.40)  4,192.80 
Profit for the year  -  -  504.62  -  504.61
Other comprehensive income (Net of Taxes)  -  -  -  2.13  2.13 
Dividend paid including Dividend 
Distribution Tax

 -  -  (66.32)  -  (66.32)

Transfer to General Reserve  -  50.00  (50.00)  -  - 
as at 31st march, 2019  359.00  600.00  3,672.50  1.73  4,633.24 
capital redemption reserve: It represents the redemption of Preference Shares (including during the year) and can 
be utilized in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

general reserve : The Company appropriates a portion to general reserves out of the profits voluntarily to meet future 
contingencies. The said reserve is available for payment of dividend to the shareholders as per the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

retained earnings : Retained earnings are mainly includes fair value gain on property, plant s & equipments and other 
adjustments on adoption of IND-AS as on April 1, 2016 and profits earned by the Company after transfer to general 
reserve and payment of dividend to shareholders.

As per our Report of even date attached.
For Singhi & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Reg No. 302049E

B. K. Sipani
Partner 

M.No. 088926 
New Delhi, the 13th day of May, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Sharda Devi Singhania
(Director)

L.R. Nayak
(Chief Financial Officer)

Ram Chandra Periwal
(Director)

Manish Bandlish
(Chief Executive Officer)

Pankaj Kamra 
(Company Secretary)

Desh Bandhu Doda
        (Director)

Ratan Chand Jain
(Director)
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statement oF CasH Flows For tHe Year ended 31st marCH, 2019
(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise) 

s. 
no.

particulars  for the year ended 
31st march, 2019 

 for the year 
ended 31st 

march, 2018 
A. cash flow from operating activities
 Profit Before Tax  653.74  610.44 

adjustments for :
        Depreciation  358.98  358.95 
        Interest income  (57.53)  (19.74)
        Allowances for credit losses  22.49  -   
        Finance Costs  402.97  373.74 
        Net Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (3.08)  (0.13)
Operating Profit before working capital changes  1,377.57  1,323.26 
(Increase)/ Decrease in Inventories  571.40  205.00 
(Increase) / Decrease in  Trade and Other Receivables  136.31  (837.99)
Increase/ (Decrease) in  Trade and Other Payables  626.84  (1,081.89)
cash generated from operations  2,712.11  (391.62)
Net Direct Tax Paid  (104.63)  (138.37)
net cash from operating activities  2,607.49  (529.99)

B. cash flow from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (697.95)  (704.28)
Proceeds  from sale of property, plant and equipment  8.41  0.22 
Interest Received  53.70  19.46 
net cash from investing activities  (635.84)  (684.60)

C. cash flow from financing activities
Redemption  of Preference Share  (151.00)  -   
Dividend Paid (including Dividend Distribution Tax)  (66.32)  -   
Proceed from Long term borrowings  240.79  513.50 
Repayment of Long term borrowings  (387.47)  (500.04)
Proceeds/(Repayment) of Short term borrowings (Net)  (1,222.13)  1,576.61 
Finance Costs paid  (392.04)  (380.68)
net cash from financing activities  (1,978.17)  1,209.39 
net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (a+B+c)  (6.52)  (5.20)

Cash and Cash equivalents being Cash and Bank balances  39.69  44.89 
   as at the beginning of the year
cash and cash equivalents being cash and Bank balances  33.17  39.69 
(Refer Note No. 8)

As per our Report of even date attached.
For Singhi & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm’s Reg No. 302049E

B. K. Sipani
Partner 

M.No. 088926 
New Delhi, the 13th day of May, 2019

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Sharda Devi Singhania
(Director)

L.R. Nayak
(Chief Financial Officer)

Ram Chandra Periwal
(Director)

Manish Bandlish
(Chief Executive Officer)

Pankaj Kamra 
(Company Secretary)

Desh Bandhu Doda
        (Director)

Ratan Chand Jain
(Director)
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1 significant accounting policies 

i. the company overview 

 Umang Dairies Limited (‘’the Company’’) is a public limited 
Company incorporated and domiciled in India and its 
shares are publicly traded on the National Stock Exchange 
(‘NSE’) and the Bombay Stock Exchange (‘BSE’), in 
India. The registered office of the Company is situated 
at Gajraula, Hasanpur Road, Gajraula -244235 Dist., 
Amroha, Uttar Pradesh, India. The Company is engaged 
in the business of dairy products.

 These financial statements were approved and adopted 
by Board of Directors of the Company in their meeting 
held on 13th May, 2019.

II. Basis of preparation of financial statements: 

 (i) statement of compliance

  The Financial Statements has been prepared in 
accordance with Indian Accounting Standards 
(Ind AS) as prescribed under Section 133 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended and 
relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 2013.

 (ii) Basis of preparation

  The financial statements of the Company comply 
in all material aspects with Indian Accounting 
Standards (“Ind AS”) as prescribed under section 
133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”), as 
notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015 and other accounting 
principles generally accepted in India. 

  Accounting policies have been consistently applied 
except where a newly issued accounting standard 
is initially adopted or a revision to an existing 
accounting standard requires a change in the 
accounting policy hitherto in use. The financial 
statements are presented in INR and all values are 
rounded to the nearest INR Lakhs, except when 
otherwise indicated.

 (iii) use of estimates

  The preparation of the financial statements in 
conformity with Ind AS requires management to 
make estimates, judgments and assumptions. 
These estimates, judgments and assumptions 
affect the application of accounting policies and 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the 
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at 
the date of the financial statements and reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
period. Application of accounting policies that require 
critical accounting estimates involving complex and 
subjective judgments and the use of assumptions in 

these financial statements have been disclosed in 
respective note.

  Accounting estimates could change from period 
to period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. Appropriate changes in estimates are 
made as management becomes aware of changes in 
circumstances surrounding the estimates. Changes 
in estimates are reflected in the financial statements 
in the period in which changes are made and, if 
material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements. 

 (iv) Classification of Assets and Liabilities as Current 
and non current 

  The Company presents assets and liabilities in 
the balance sheet based on current/ non-current 
classification. An assets/liabilities are treated as 
current when it is:

• Expected to be realised/settled (liabilities) or 
intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating 
cycle.

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading

• Expected to be realised/settled within twelve months 
after the reporting period, or

• Cash and cash equivalent unless restricted from 
being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period or 
there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement 
of the liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting period.

  All other assets/liabilities are classified as non-
current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
classified as non-current assets/liabilities.

  The operating cycle is the time between the 
acquisition of the assets for processing and their 
realisation in cash and cash equivalents. 

iii. significant accounting policies 

 (i) revenue recognition

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable for goods 
supplied and services rendered, net of returns and 
discounts to customers. The specific recognition 
criteria described below also be complied with before 
revenue is recognized. 

  sale of goods and conversion income

  Revenue from the sale of goods and conversion 
income are recognised when the Company performs 
its obligations to its customers and the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably and recovery of 

notes to tHe FinanCial statements
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the consideration is probable. The timing of such 
recognition in case of sale of goods is when the control 
over the same is transferred to the customer, which is 
mainly upon delivery and in case of conversion income, 
in the period in which such services are rendered.

  The Company operates a loyalty programme where 
customers accumulate coupons for purchases 
made which entitle them to redeem on future date. 
Revenue related to the coupon scheme is deferred 
and recognised when the coupons are redeemed. 
The amount of revenue is based on the number 
of coupons redeemed relative to the total number 
expected to be redeemed.

  interest income
  Interest income is recognized on time proportion 

basis using the effective interest method.

  dividend income
  Dividend income is recognized when the right to 

receive payment is established, which is generally 
when shareholders approve the same.

 (ii)   inventory valuation
  Inventories such as Raw Materials, Work-in-

Progress, Finished Goods, Stock in Trade and 
Stores & Spares are valued at the lower of cost and 
net realizable value except scrap/waste which are 
valued at net realizable value. The cost is computed 
on weighted average basis. Finished Goods and 
Process Stock include cost of conversion and other 
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition. Materials and other 
items held for use in the production of inventories 
are not written down below costs, if finished goods 
in which they will be incorporated are expected to 
be sold at or above cost.

  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
of completion and to make the sale.

(iii) cash and cash equivalents
  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank 

and in hand and short-term deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less.

  For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash 
and cash equivalents is as defined above, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts. In the balance sheet, 
bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities.

(iv)   property, plant and equipment (ppe)
  recognition and measurement
  Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at 

cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment loss, if any. The cost of assets comprises 
of purchase price and directly attributable cost 
of bringing the assets to working condition for its 

intended use including borrowing cost and incidental 
expenditure during construction incurred up to the 
date when the assets are ready to use. Capital 
work in progress includes cost of assets at sites, 
construction expenditure and interest on the funds 
deployed less any impairment loss, if any.

  On transition to Ind AS, the Company has adopted 
optional exception under Ind AS 101 to measure 
Property, Plant and Equipment at fair value. 
Consequently the fair value has been assumed to 
be deemed cost of Property, Plant and Equipment 
on the date of transition. 

  Property, Plant and Equipment acquired after the 
transition date are stated at cost net of tax/duty credit 
availed. Cost includes expenses directly attributable 
to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management.

  Capital work-in-progress includes cost of PPE under 
installation/under development as at balance sheet 
date. Advances paid towards the acquisition of PPE 
outstanding at each balance sheet date is classified 
as capital advance under other non-current assets.

  subsequent measurement
  Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if 

it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the 
company.

  depreciation
  Depreciation on fixed assets is calculated on Straight 

Line Method using the rates arrived at based on 
the estimated useful lives given in Schedule II of 
the Companies Act, 2013 or re-assessed by the 
Company on technically assessed, as given below:

  General Plant and Machinary             15 - 18 Years   

                                       (Continious Process Plant)

  Depreciation will be charged from the date the assets 
is available for use, i.e., when it is in the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management. 
The residual values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate.

  Property, Plant and Equipment are carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment loss, if any.

(v)   intangible assets
  Intangible Assets are recognised, if the future 

economic benefits attributable to the assets are 
expected to flow to the Company and cost of the 
asset can be measured reliably. All other expenditure 
is expensed as incurred. Such intangible assets are 
measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
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and impairment losses, if any and are amortised 
over their respective individual estimated useful life 
on straight line method.

  The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

(vi)   Leases
  Leases of property, plant and equipment where the 

Company, as lessee, has substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s 
inception at the fair value of the leased property or, 
if lower, the percentage value of the minimum lease 
payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net 
of finance charges, are included in borrowings or 
other financial liabilities as appropriate. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance 
cost. The finance cost is charged to the statement of 
profit and loss over the lease period so as to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period.

  Lease in which a significant portion of the risks 
and rewards of ownership are not transferred to 
the Company as lessee are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases 
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to statement of profit and loss on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease unless the 
payments are structured to increase in line with 
expected general inflation to compensate for the 
lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases.

(vii)   Impairment of non-financial assets
  At each reporting date, the Company reviews 

the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets 
(other than inventories and deferred tax assets) 
to determine whether there is any indication on 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together 
into the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or 
CGUs.

  The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the 
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs 
to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future 
cash flows, discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset or CGU. An impairment 
loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset 
or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

  Impairment loss in respect of assets other than 
goodwill is reversed only to the extent that the 
assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss 
had been recognised in prior years. A reversal of 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the 
Statement of Profit & Loss.

(viii)   financial instruments
  A Financial Instrument is any contract that gives 

rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity.

  financial assets 

  initial recognition and measurement
  All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 

plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at 
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial 
asset.

  Classifications
  The Company classifies its financial assets as 

subsequently measured at either amortised cost 
or fair value depending on the company’s business 
model for managing the financial assets and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 
assets.

  Business model assessment
  The company makes an assessment of the objective 

of a business model in which an asset is held at an 
instrument level because this best reflects the way 
the business is managed and information is provided 
to management.

  (a)  financial assets at amortised cost

  A financial asset is measured at amortised cost 
only if both of the following conditions are met:

• it is held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows.

• the contractual terms of the financial asset 
represent contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest.

  After initial measurement, such financial assets are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
Effective Interest Rate (‘EIR’) method. Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is 
included as finance income in the profit or loss. The 
losses arising from impairment are recognised in the 
profit or loss.

 (b)  financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

  Debt instruments with contractual cash flow 
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characteristics that are solely payments of 
principal and interest and held in a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets are classified to be measured 
at FVOCI.

(c)  Financial Assets at fair value through profit 
and loss (fvtpL)

  Any Financial Assets and debt instrument, which 
does not meet the criteria for categorization as 
at amortized cost or as FVOCI, is classified as 
at FVTPL. 

  In addition, the Company may elect to classify 
a debt instrument, which otherwise meets 
amortized cost or FVOCI criteria, as at FVTPL. 
However, such election is allowed only if doing 
so reduces or eliminates a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 
‘accounting mismatch’).

  Debt instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in the profit and loss.

equity instruments

  All equity instruments in scope of Ind AS 109 
are measured at fair value. On initial recognition 
an equity investment that is not held for trading, 
the Company may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This 
election is made on an investment-by-investment 
basis.

  All other Financial Instruments are classified as 
measured at FVTPL.

derecognition

  A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of 
a financial asset or part of a Company of similar 
financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. 
removed from the Company’s balance sheet) when:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired, or

• The company has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 
without material delay to a third party under a 
‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the 
company has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the company has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset

  When the company has transferred its rights to 
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered 
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and 

to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards 
of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the 
company continues to recognize the transferred 
asset to the extent of the company’s continuing 
involvement. In that case, the company also 
recognizes an associated liability. The transferred 
asset and the associated liability are measured on 
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that 
the company has retained.

  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at 
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset 
and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
company could be required to repay.

  On de-recognition of a financial asset, the difference 
between the carrying amount of the asset (or the 
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset 
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration 
received (including any new asset obtained less any 
new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or 
loss that had been recognised in OCI is recognised 
in profit or loss.

  Impairment of financial assets

  The Company assesses on a forward-looking 
basis the expected credit loss associated with its 
assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI debt 
instruments. The impairment methodology applied 
depends on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk.

  With regard to trade receivable, the Company 
applies the simplified approach as permitted by 
Ind AS 109, Financial Instruments, which requires 
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from the 
initial recognition of the trade receivables.

  financial Liabilities

  initial recognition and measurement

  Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, 
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, amortised cost, as appropriate. All financial 
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in 
the case of amortised cost, net of directly attributable 
transaction costs.

  subsequent measurement

  The measurement of financial liabilities depends on 
their classification, as described below :

a)  financial Liabilities at fair value through 
Profit or Loss

  Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss include financial liabilities 
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des igna ted  upon  in i t i a l  recogn i t i on 
as at fair value through profit or loss.  
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognised in the profit or loss.

  Financial liabilities designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through profit or loss 
are designated as such at the initial date of 
recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 
109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated as 
FVTPL, fair value gains/losses attributable to 
changes in own credit risks are recognized in 
OCI. These gains/loss are not subsequently 
transferred to P&L. However, the Company 
may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within 
equity. All other changes in fair value of such 
liability are recognised in the statement of profit 
or loss.

 b)  financial Liabilities measured at amortised 
cost 

  After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the EIR method. 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as 
well as through the EIR amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of 
the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as 
finance costs in the statement of profit and loss.

de-recognition of financial Liability

  A Financial Liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. The difference between the 
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets 
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in 
profit or loss as other income or finance costs.

  compound financial instruments

  The liability component of a compound financial 
instrument is recognised initially at fair value of 
a similar liability that does not have an equity 
component. The equity component is recognised 
initially as the difference between the fair value of 
the compound financial instrument as a whole and 
the fair value of the liability component. Any directly 
attributable transaction costs are allocated to the 
liability and the equity components, if material, in 
proportion to their initial carrying amounts.

  Subsequent to the initial recognition, the liability 
component of a compound financial instrument 
is measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method. The equity component of a 
compound financial instrument is not re-measured 
subsequent to initial recognition except on conversion 
or expiry.

(ix)   foreign currency transactions and translation

  Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded by 
the Company at their respective functional currency 
considering exchange rates prevailing on the date 
of transactions qualifies for recognition. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency 
are translated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date.

  Exchange differences arising on settlement or 
translation of monetary items are recognised in 
the Statement of Profit & Loss except exchange 
differences on foreign currency borrowings included 
in the borrowing cost when they are regarded as an 
adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency 
borrowings.

  Non-monetary items that are measured at historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date of initial transactions. 
Non-monetary items measure at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair value is determined.

(x)   Employee Benefit

  (a) Short term employee benefits:

  Short-term employee benefits are expensed 
as the related service is provided. A liability 
is recognised for the amount expected to be 
paid if the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a 
result of past service provided by the employee 
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(b)  Defined contribution plans:

  The Company has Provident Fund as defined 
contribution plan. Obligations for contributions 
to defined contribution plans are expensed as 
the related service is provided. 

(c)   Defined benefit plans: 

  For defined benefit plans, the cost of providing 
benefits is determined using the projected unit 
credit method, with actuarial valuations being 
carried out at the end of each annual reporting 
period. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows using interest 
rates of government bonds. 

  Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains 
and losses, the effect of the changes to the 
asset ceiling (if applicable) is reflected  in 
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the balance sheet with a charge or credit 
recognised in other comprehensive income in 
the period in which they occur. Remeasurement 
recognised in other comprehensive income 
is reflected immediately in retained earnings 
and will not be reclassified to the statement of 
profit and loss. Past service cost is recognised 
in the statement of profit and loss in the period 
of a plan amendment. Interest is calculated by 
applying the discount rate at the beginning of 
the period to the net defined benefit liability. 
Defined benefit costs are categorised as 
follows:

•  service cost (including current service cost, 
past service cost, as well as gains and losses 
on curtailments and settlements);

•  interest expense; and 

•  remeasurement

  The Company presents the first two components 
of defined benefit costs in the statement of profit 
and loss in the line item employee benefits 
expense.

(d) Other Long-term employee Benefits: 

  The company has long term employment benefit 
plans i.e. accumulated leave. Accumulated 
leave is encashed to eligible employees at the 
time of retirement. The liability for accumulated 
leave, which is a defined benefit scheme, is 
provided based on actuarial valuation as at the 
Balance Sheet date, based on Projected Unit 
Credit Method, carried out by an independent 
actuary.

(xi)   earnings per share (eps)

  Basic Earnings per equity share are calculated 
by dividing the net profit or loss for the period 
attributable to equity shareholders by the weighted 
average number of equity shares outstanding during 
the year.

  For calculating diluted earnings per share, the net 
profit or loss for the period attributable to equity 
shareholders and the weighted average number of 
share outstanding during the period are adjusted for 
the effect of all diluted potential equity shares.

(xii)   income tax

  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 
tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 
equity or in Other Comprehensive Income.

  current tax

  Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or 
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 
and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable 
in respect of previous years. It is measured using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. Current tax assets and liabilities are 
offset only if, the Company:

 a)  Has a legally enforceable right to set off the  
recognised amounts; and

 b)  Intends either to settle on a net basis, or 
to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

deferred tax

  Deferred tax is recognised on differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
balance sheet and the corresponding tax bases 
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred 
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which those 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) 
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting 
profit.

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the asset to be recovered.

  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed 
at each reporting date and recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which they can be used.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period 
in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date. The measurement of deferred tax 
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences 
that would follow from the manner in which the 
Company expects, at the reporting date, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when 
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they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Company intends to settle 
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

  Current and deferred tax are recognised in the 
statement of profit and loss, except when they relate 
to items that are recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, in which case, the 
current and deferred tax are also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity 
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax 
arises from the initial accounting for a business 
combination, the tax effect is included in the 
accounting for the business combination.

minimum alternate tax

  Credit of Minimum Alternative Tax (MAT) is 
recognised as an asset only when and to the extent 
there is convincing evidence that the Company will 
pay normal income tax during the specified period, 
i.e., the period for which MAT credit is allowed to 
be carried forward. In the year in which the MAT 
credit becomes eligible to be recognised as an 
asset, the said asset is created by way of a credit 
to the Statement of Profit and Loss and shown as 
MAT credit entitlement. The Company reviews the 
same at each balance sheet date and writes down 
the carrying amount of MAT credit entitlement to the 
extent there is no longer convincing evidence to the 
effect that the Company will pay normal income tax 
during the specified period.

(xiii) provisions and contingent Liabilities /assets

  Provisions are recognized when there is a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event and it is probable that it is required to 
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. The amount 
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. 

  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that 
arises from a past event, with the resolution of 
the contingency dependent on uncertain future 
events, or a present obligation where no outflow is 
probable. Major contingent liabilities are disclosed 
in the financial statements unless the possibility of 
an outflow of economic resources is remote.

  Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial 
statements but disclosed, where an inflow of 
economic benefit is probable.

(xiv)   segment reporting

  Opera t i ng  segmen ts  a re  repo r ted  i n  a 
manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision maker. 

 
The board of directors of the Company has been 
identified as being the chief operating decision maker 
by the Management of the company. The Business 
activity of the company falls within one business 
segment viz “Dairy Products.”

(xv)   Borrowing costs

  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying assets are 
capitalised as part of the cost of such assets upto 
the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale. 

  The loan origination costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition of borrowings (e.g. loan processing 
fee, upfront fee) are amortised on the basis of the 
Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method over the term 
of the loan. 

  Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 
borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. All other 
borrowing costs are recognised in the statement 
of profit and loss in the period in which they are 
incurred.

(xvi)   fair value measurements

  The Company measures financial instruments such 
as derivatives and certain investments, at fair value 
at each balance sheet date.

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is 
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell 
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability.

    Or

 •  In the absence of a principal market, in the most 
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The 
principal or the most advantageous market must be 
accessible by the Company.

  All assets and liabilities for which fair value is 
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described 
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole;

•  Level 1- Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•  Level 2- Valuation techniques for which the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

•  Level 3- Valuation techniques for which the lowest 
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level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.

  For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the 
Company has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics 
and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the 
fair value hierarchy as explained above.

a.  financial instruments 

  The estimated fair value of the Company’s financial 
instruments is based on market prices and valuation 
techniques. Valuations are made with the objective 
to include relevant factors that market participants 
would consider in setting a price, and to apply 
accepted economic and financial methodologies 
for the pricing of financial instruments. References 
for less active markets are carefully reviewed to 
establish relevant and comparable data. 

b.  marketable and non-marketable equity securities

  Fair value for listed shares is based on quoted 
market prices as of the reporting date. Fair value 
for unlisted shares is calculated based on commonly 
accepted valuation techniques utilizing significant 
unobservable data, primarily cash flow-based 
models. If fair value cannot be measured reliably 
unlisted shares are recognized at cost.

c.  derivatives

  The Company uses derivative financial instruments, 
such as forward currency contracts and interest rate 
swaps to hedge its foreign currency risks and interest 
rate risks respectively. Such derivative financial 
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the 
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently re-measured at fair value provided 
by the respective banks. Derivatives are carried as 
financial assets when the fair value is positive and 
as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.  
Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair 
value of derivatives are taken directly to Statement 
of Profit & Loss.

(xvii) Significant accounting Judgements and    
estimates

  In preparing these financial statements, management 
has made judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of the company’s 
accounting policies and the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Management believes that the estimates used in the 
preparation of the financial statements are prudent 
and reasonable. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
estimates are recognised prospectively.

a. Judgements

  Information about the judgements made in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant 
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements have been given below:

• Classification of leases into finance and operating 
lease

• Classification of financial assets: assessment of 
business model within which the assets are held and 
assessment of whether the contractual terms of the 
financial asset are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

b. assumptions and estimation uncertainties

  Information about assumptions and estimation 
uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting 
in a material adjustment in the financial statements 
for every period ended is included below:

• Measurement of defined benefit obligations: key 
actuarial assumptions;

• Recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of 
future taxable profit against which carry-forward tax 
losses can be used;

• Impairment test: key assumptions underlying 
recoverable amounts.

• Useful life and residual value of fixed assets

• Recognition and measurement of provisions and 
contingencies: key assumptions about the likelihood 
and magnitude of an outflow of resources

• Impairment of financial assets: key assumptions 
used in estimating recoverable cash flows

• In determining the fair value of the mine restoration 
obligation the Company uses technical estimates to 
determine the expected cost to restore the mines and 
the expected timing of these costs. Discount rates 
are determined based on expected rate of return.

(xviii)   offsetting financial instruments

  Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the balance sheet where there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must 
not be contingent on future events and must be 
enforceable in the normal course of business and 
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of 
the group or the counterparty.

(xix)   functional and presentation currency

  These financial statements are presented in Indian 
National Rupee (‘INR’), which is the Company’s 
functional currency. All amounts have been rounded 
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to the nearest Lakhs, unless otherwise indicated.

(xx)   standards issued but not yet effective

  The amendments to Standards /New Standards 
that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date 
of issuance of the Company’s financial statements 
are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt 
these standards, if applicable, when they become 
effective.

ind as 116

  Ind AS 116 – ‘Leases’ is applicable for the accounting 
period beginning from April 1, 2019.  

  Ind AS 116 will replace the existing Ind AS 17 Leases 
and related interpretations. The standard sets out 
the principles for the recognition, measurement, 
presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties 
to a contract i.e., the lessee and the lessor. Ind AS 
116 introduces a single lessee accounting model 
and requires the lessee to recognize assets and 
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than twelve 
months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. 
Currently, operating lease expenses are charged 
to the Statement of Profit and Loss. The standard 
also contains enhanced disclosure requirements for 
lessees. Ind AS 116 substantially carries forward the 
lessor accounting requirements in Ind AS 17. 

  The standard permits two possible methods of 
transition:

• Full retrospective - Retrospectively to each prior 
period presented applying Ind AS 8 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors.

• Modified retrospective - Retrospectively, with 
the cumulative effect of initially applying the 
Standard recognized at the date of initial application.  
Under modified retrospective approach, the lessee 
records the lease liability at the present value of 
the remaining lease payments, discounted at the 
incremental borrowing rate and the right of use 
asset either at: 

• Its carrying amount as if the standard had been 
applied since the commencement date, but 
discounted at lessee’s incremental borrowing rate 
at the date of initial application or

• An amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the 
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments 
related to that lease recognized under Ind AS 17 
immediately before the date of initial application. 

  The Company is in the process of evaluating the 
impact of transitioning from old standard i.e Ind AS 
17 to new standard i.e Ind AS 116 and the transition 

approach.

  amendment to ind as 19

  Employees Benefits: Ministry of Corporate Affairs 
issued amendments to Ind AS 19, ‘Employee 
Benefits’, on 30 March, 2019,  in connection with 
accounting for plan amendments, curtailments and 
settlements. The Company does not have any impact 
on account of this amendment.

  amendment to ind as 12 – income taxes: Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs;

(a)  issued amendments to the guidance in Ind AS 12, 
‘Income Taxes’, in connection with accounting for 
dividend distribution taxes accordingly an entity 
shall recognise the income tax consequences of 
dividends in profit or loss, other comprehensive 
income or equity according to where the entity 
originally recognised those past transactions or 
events. It is relevant to note that the amendment does 
not amend situations where the entity pays a tax on 
dividend which is effectively a portion of dividends 
paid to taxation authorities on behalf of shareholders. 
Such amount paid or payable to taxation authorities 
continues to be charged to equity as part of dividend, 
in accordance with Ind AS 12.  There is no impact of 
this amendment on the financial statements.

(b)  has notified Ind AS 12 Appendix ‘C’   Uncertainty 
over Income Tax Treatments on March 30, 2019. 
According to the appendix, the company need to 
determine the probability of the relevant tax authority 
accepting each tax treatment, or the Company of 
tax treatments, that the companies have used or 
plan to use in their income tax filing which has to 
be considered to compute the most likely amount 
or the expected value of the tax treatment when 
determining taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, 
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates. 
The Company has decided to adjust the cumulative 
effect in equity on the date of initial application without 
adjusting comparatives. The effect on adoption of 
Ind AS 12 Appendix C would be insignificant in the 
financial statements

ind as 23 – Borrowing costs:

  The amendments clarify that if any specific 
borrowing remains outstanding after the related 
asset is ready for its intended use or sale, than that 
borrowing becomes part of the general borrowings 
for calculating the future capitalisation rate. The 
Company does not expect any significant impact 
from this amendment.
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notes to the financial statements
(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise)

particulars as at  
31st march' 2019

as at  
31st march' 2018

4. other non-current financial assets
unsecured, considered good
Security Deposits  62.49  62.49 
Fixed Deposit with interest accured thereon  1.22  1.14 
total  63.71  63.63 

5. other non current assets
unsecured, considered good
Capital Advances  80.04  47.12 
Others  1.57  1.57 
total  81.61  48.69 

6. inventories
(valued at cost or net realizable value, whichever is lower)
Raw Materials  26.81  101.27 
(including Goods in transit Rs Nil (Previous year Rs 58.65 Lakhs)
Work-in-Progress - Semi Processed Milk  152.55  93.45 
Finished Goods  2,505.32  2,878.37 
Stores and Spares & Packing Material  461.98  644.97 
total  3,146.66  3,718.06 

6.1 During the year, an amount of Rs 53.08 Lakhs (Previous year Rs 77.52 Lakhs) was recognised as expense for inventories 
carried at net realisable value & provision for slow & non moving inventories. 

Inventories are hypothecated to secure borrowings. Refer to Note  18.

7. trade receivables
unsecured
Considered Good  1,119.25  1,241.85 
Have significant increase in credit risk  -    -   
Credit Impaired  22.49  3.97 

 1,141.74  1,245.82 
Less:- Allowance for Credit Losses  (22.49)  (3.97)
total  1,119.25  1,241.85 

7.1 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 0 to 90 days.

7.2 No trade or other receivables are due from directors or other officers of the company either severally or jointly with any                
      other person. Nor any trade or other receivable are due from firms or private companies respectively in which any director  
      is  a partner, a director or a member.

7.3 Trade Receivables are hypothecated to secure borrowings. Refer to Note  18.
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notes to the financial statements

(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise)
particulars as at  

31st march' 2019
as at  

31st march' 2018
8. cash & cash equivalents
Balance with bank in Current accounts  28.26  32.21 
Cheques on hand  2.54  -   
Cash on hand  2.37  7.48 
total  33.17  39.69 

9. other Bank Balances
earmarked balances 
Unclaimed Dividend Accounts  38.94  34.62 
Fixed deposits with maturity more than 3 months but less than 12 months 
(pledged with sales tax department)

 4.70  4.70 

total  43.64  39.32 

10. other current financial assets
unsecured, considered good

Interest Receivable  9.65  5.81 
Incentive receivable from Government  6.47  6.61 
Others  4.96  5.46 
total  21.08  17.88 

11. other current assets
unsecured, considered good
Advances recoverable  90.68  128.33 
Prepaid expenses  21.38  26.34 
Indirect Tax Recoverable  18.69  16.96 
Conversion income accrued but not billed  30.71  26.21 
Others  0.80  0.06 
unsecured, considered doubtful
Others  3.49  3.49 
Less: Allowance for doubtful loans and advances  (3.49)  (3.49)
total  162.26  197.90 

12. equity share capital
authorised 
3,00,00,000 (Previous Year : 3,00,00,000) Equity Shares of Rs. 5 each  1,500.00  1,500.00 
6,00,000 (Previous Year : 6,00,000) Redeemable Preference shares of Rs. 100 
each

 600.00  600.00 

total  2,100.00  2,100.00 

issued, subscribed and paid-up (a)
2,20,03,200 (Previous Year : 2,20,03,200) Equity Shares of Rs. 5 each  1,100.16  1,100.16 
total  1,100.16  1,100.16 

(a) The Company has also issued NIL (Previous year 1,51,000) zero coupon redeemable preference shares of Rs. 100 each in 
earlier years and the same are disclosed under “Current Financial Liabilities” (Refer Note 20).
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notes:

(a) reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding

particulars

as at  
31st march, 2019

as at  
31st march, 2018

 equity 
shares nos 

 preference 
shares nos 

 equity 
shares nos

 preference 
shares nos 

Shares outstanding at the beginning of the year  2,20,03,200  1,51,000  2,20,03,200  1,51,000 
Shares Issued during the year  -    -    -    -   
Shares bought back/redeemed during the year  -    1,51,000  -    -   
Shares outstanding at the end of the year  2,20,03,200  -    2,20,03,200  1,51,000 

(b) terms rights and preferences attached to equity shares:

The Company has only one class of Equity Shares having face value of Rs. 5/- each and each shareholder is entitled to one vote 
per share.  In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of 
the Company, after distribution of all preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares 
held by the shareholders.

(c) rights and preferences attached to preference shares:

Pursuant to BIFR Order, 2,08,000 Preference Shares were redeemed on 20.10.2016 and balance 1,51,000 
Preference Shares are redeemable on 30.06.2018. Each shareholder of preference shares is entitled to have a right 
to vote only on resolutions placed before the company which directly affect the rights attached to his/her preference 
shares and in proportion as paid up preference share capital bears to the total paid up capital. On liquidation the 
preference shares have preferential right to receive the preference share capital, but not in the distribution of surplus.  
During the year all preference shares were redeemed.

(d) details of shareholder holding more than 5% shares:

name of shareholder

as at  
31st march, 2019

 as at  
31st march, 2018

 number of 
shares 

 percentage  number of 
shares 

 percentage 

equity shareholders

Bengal & Assam Company Ltd.  1,09,72,965 49.87%  1,09,72,965 49.87%

Juggilal Kamplapat Udyog Ltd.  38,50,000 17.50%  38,50,000 17.50%

Florence Investech Ltd.  11,94,965 5.43%  11,94,965 5.43%

preference shareholders

T.K. Ruby & Co.  -   -  40,000 26.49%

Accurate Finman Services Ltd.  -   -  80,000 52.98%

Samji Raishi Karia  -   -  26,000 17.22%

notes to the financial statements
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notes to the financial statements

(rs. in Lakhs)

particulars as at  
31st march' 2019

as at  
31st march' 2018

13.  non current Borrowings
secured Loans
Term Loans - Banks 919.35 1,071.60

Vehicle Loan 68.08 51.75

total 987.43 1,123.35
Less :  current maturities of long term borrowings
Term Loans - Banks 467.52 312.47

Vehicle Loan 19.88 13.63

total 487.40 326.10
total 500.03 797.25

(a)  Term Loan of Rs 286.72 Lakhs (Previous Year : Rs. 568.11 Lakhs) from Bank is Secured by a first pari passu charge 
over the entire moveable properties of the Company both present and future and equitable mortgage over the immovable 
properties  in the name of the Company situated at Gajraula, is repayable in equal quarterly installments of Rs.71.88 Lakhs 
commencing from June,2016.   

(b)  Term Loan of Rs NIL (Previous Year : 8.15 Lakhs) from Bank is Secured by a first  pari passu charge over the  entire 
moveable properties of the Company  both present and future and equitable mortgage over the immovable properties in 
the name of the Company situated at Gajraula, is repayable in equal quarterly installments of Rs. 29.15 Lakhs commencing 
from July,2016.   

(c)  Term Loan of Rs. 475.17 Lakhs (Previous Year : 495.34 Lakhs) from Bank is Secured by a first  pari passu charge over the 
entire moveable properties of the Company  both present and future and equitable mortgage over the immovable properties 
in the name of the Company situated at Gajraula, is repayable in 16 quarterly installments  of Rs. 20.00 Lakhs and 8 quarterly 
installments of Rs. 22.50 Lakhs commencing from December, 2018.   

(d)  Term Loan of Rs 157.46 Lakhs (Previous Year : NIL ) from Bank is Secured by a first  pari passu charge over the  entire 
moveable properties of the Company  both present and future and equitable mortgage over the immovable properties in 
the name of the Company situated at Gajraula, is repayable in equal quarterly installments  of Rs. 25 Lakhs commencing 
from December 2018.   

(e)  Vehicle Loan of Rs. 38.14 Lakhs (Previous Year : 51.75 Lakhs) from NBFC is secured by way of hypothecation of vehicle 
purchased thereunder. Loan is repayable in different equal monthly installments  including interest, for different loan taken 
on different rates.   

(f)  Vehicle Loan of Rs. 29.94 Lakhs (Previous Year : NIL Lakhs) from Bank is secured by way of hypothecation of vehicle 
purchased thereunder. Loan is repayable in different equal monthly installments  including interest, for different loan taken 
on different rates.

14.  other financial Liabilities - non current
Trade and other deposits  11.00  11.00 

total  11.00  11.00 

15.  Long term provisions
Provision for Employee Benefits (Refer note no 36)  207.33  180.94 

total  207.33  180.94 
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notes to the financial statements

(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise)
particulars as at  

31st march' 2019
as at  

31st march' 2018
16.  deferred tax Liabilities
Deferred Tax Liabilities

Impact of difference in depreciation/amortization on Property, plant and 
equipment in tax accounts and depreciation/amortization for financial reporting

 711.48  662.63 

Impact of difference in fair value of land between tax accounts and financial 
reporting

 326.54  326.54 

Others  2.54  2.54 

 1,040.56  991.71 
Deferred Tax Assets

Provision for Employees Benefit  51.42  46.55 

Other Timing Differences  29.64  34.84 

MAT Credit Entitlement  196.50  177.27 

 277.56  258.66 

net deferred tax Liabilities  762.99  733.04 

reconciliation of effective tax rate  fy 2018-19  fy 2017-18 
Profit before tax  653.74  610.44 
Enacted tax rates for company under Income Tax 27.82% 33.06%
Income Tax Payable  181.87  201.83 
Other Non deductible expenses  5.06  7.97 
Reversal of Deferred tax due to Lower Income tax rate in future  -    (131.35)
MAT Credit Entitlement  (19.23)  -   
Others (including change in tax rates for deferred tax)  (18.57)  (4.81)
Current Income tax related to earlier years  -    9.74 
reported income tax expenses  149.13  83.38 

effective tax rate 22.81% 13.66%
In previous years the Government of India has reduced effective tax rates to 27.82% for Companies having turnover below 
Rs 25,000 Lakh

17.  other non current Liabilities
Security Deposits from Customers  971.06  974.01 

total  971.06  974.01 

18.  current Borrowings
secured Loans
Working Capital Borrowing from Bank  2,126.12  3,348.25 

total  2,126.12  3,348.25 
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notes to the financial statements

notes :

(i)  Working Capital Borrowing of Rs. 2126.12 Lakhs (Previous Year : Rs. 2498.25 Lakhs) from Bank is secured by first pari 
passu charge over the entire moveable properties of the Company  both present and future and the equitable mortgage 
over the immovable properties in the name of the Company situated at Gajraula.  

(ii)  Working Capital demand Loan of Rs. NIL (Previous Year : Rs. 150 Lakhs) from Bank is secured by first pari passu charge 
over current assets both present and future; first pari passu charge over moveable fixed assets of the Company both present 
and future; first pari passu charge on the equitable mortgage over the immovable properties in the name of the Company 
situated at Gajraula.   

(iii)  Working Capital demand Loan of Rs. NIL (Previous Year : Rs. 700.00 Lakhs)  from Bank and it is secured by first pari passu 
charge over current assets both presented future and First pari passu charge over moveable fixed assets of the Company 
both present and future. 

(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise)
particulars as at  

31st march' 2019
as at  

31st march' 2018

19.  trade payables
For Goods and Services
 a) total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises  -    -   
 b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises  1,028.20  722.16 
total  1,028.20  722.16 
Based on the information available as indentified by the Company, there are certain vendors who have confirmed that they 
are covered under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006. Disclosures relating to dues of Micro 
and Small entrprises under section 22 of ‘The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006, are given below:
a. Principal amount and Interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as on  -    -   
b. Interest paid by the Company in terms of Section 16 of the MSMED Act along with 

the amounts of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day
 -    -   

c. The amount of interest due and payable for the year of delay in making payment 
(which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) but without 
adding the interest specified under this Act

 -    -   

d. The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid during the accounting year.  -    -   
e. The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding 

years, until such date when the interest dues above are actually paid to the small 
enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure under 
section 23 of this Act.

-  -   

20.  other financial Liabilities - current
Current maturities of long term borrowings  487.40  326.10 
Zero Coupon Redeemable Preference Shares (Refer Note 12)  -    147.60 
Dues to a body corporate @  40.00  40.00 
Interest accrued  4.52  7.75 
Unclaimed dividends #  38.94  34.62 
Employee Emoluments  106.14  122.73 
Security Deposits  104.33  73.49 
Capital Creditors  102.34  40.76 
Other Payables  321.21  204.14 
total  1,204.88  997.21 
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(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise)
particulars as at 31st march' 2019 as at 31st march' 2018

21.  other current Liabilities
Statutory Dues  147.31  73.71 
Advance from Customers  150.51  182.40 
Others  -    2.42 
total  297.83  258.53 

22.  short term provisions
Provision for Employee Benefits (Refer note no 36)  6.62  5.98 
total  6.62  5.98 

23.  revenue from operations
sale of products  17,825.92 20,700.19
other operating revenues:
Conversion Charges  4,551.08  3,788.40 
Export Incentive  -    0.04 
Waste Sale  88.03  39.91 
total  22,465.03  24,528.54 

24.  other income
Interest Income  57.53  19.74 
Net Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  3.08  0.13 
Provision no longer required written back  27.57  5.33 
Others  23.77  22.27 
total  111.95  47.47 

25.  cost of material consumed
Raw Material Consumed  12,619.03  15,456.84 
Packing Material Consumed  964.27  892.23 
total cost of material consumed  13,583.30  16,349.07 

26. Change in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress
 opening stock 
 Finished Goods  2,878.37  3,235.01 
 Work-in-Progress  93.45  86.11 

 2,971.82  3,321.12 
 closing stock 
 Finished Goods  2,505.03  2,878.37 
 Work-in-Progress  152.55  93.45 

 2,657.58  2,971.82 
 (Increase) / Decrease in Stocks  314.24  349.30 
 Less : Excise Duty on variation of stock  -    (0.14)
 net (increase) / decrease in stocks  314.24  349.16 

notes to the financial statements

# Investor Education & Protection fund will be credited as and when due

@ Loan of Rs. 40 Lakhs (Previous year : Rs. 40 Lakhs) from a body corporate is secured by a first pari passu charge over 
the entire moveable properties of the Company was due in earlier years but not demanded by lender. Liability of above have 
been recognized to the extent and in terms of BIFR order. 
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(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise)
particulars as at 31st march' 2019 as at 31st march' 2018

27.  Employee Benefit Expenses
 Salaries,Wages and Bonus  2,129.29  2,038.85 
 Contribution to Provident and other Funds  103.46  92.78 
 Staff Welfare Expenses  61.15  49.30 
total  2,293.90  2,180.93 
28.  finance costs
Interest  311.89  355.54 
Other Borrowing Costs  92.26  18.20 

 404.15  373.74 
Less: Transfer to Capital Work in Progress/Capitalised  1.18  -   
total  402.97  373.74 
29.  other expenses
Consumption of Stores and spares  546.17  420.98 
Power and Fuel  2,196.51  2,141.62 
Job on contract  204.74  92.50 
Rent  72.24  54.11 
Repairs to Buildings  29.20  35.51 
Repairs to  Machinery  116.07  81.79 
Insurance  31.06  32.86 
Rates & Taxes  25.35  15.13 
Freight and Transportation  530.67  453.16 
Advertisement and sales promotion  288.37  240.55 
Corporate Social Responsibility  19.07  19.03 
Directors' Fee  13.23  11.92 

Directors' Commission  6.50  -   
Research & Development  0.62  0.94 
Bad Debts                                                                    3.97
Less: Allowance for Credit Losses                               3.97 - -
Allowance for Credit loses  22.49  -   
Miscellaneous @  867.56  753.50 
total  4,969.85  4,353.60 
@ Includes amount paid to auditors
i)   statutory auditors:

a. As Auditor  3.45  2.70 
a. Limited review fee  0.90  0.48 
b. Tax Audit Fee  0.50  0.40 
c. Certifications fee  0.18  0.20 
d. Certifications fee to previous auditor  -    0.53 
e. Reimbursement of Expenses  0.32  0.08 

total  5.35  4.39 
ii)   cost auditors:

a. Audit Fees 0.42 0.35
total 0.42 0.35

notes to the financial statements
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(Rs. in Lakhs, unless stated otherwise)
particulars as at 31st march' 2019 as at 31st march' 2018

30.  current tax
Current Tax for the year  120.00  125.30 
Tax adjustments for earlier years  -    (9.74)
total  120.00  115.56 

31.  earning per share (eps)
Profit for the year  504.61  527.06 
Weighted average number of equity shares of Rs. 5/- each 22003200 22003200
Basic and diluted (per share in rs.)  2.29  2.40 

32.  contingent Liabilities & commitments (to the extent not provided for)

contingent Liabilities :
claim against the company not acknowledged as debts.
a. Sales tax/ Mandi Fee /Milk cess liability in respect of matter in 

appeals *
 350.88  359.24 

b. Income tax liability that may arise in respect of matters in appeal 
referred by the department *

 -    1,290.90 

c. Other matters  92.58  92.58 
* Interest impact on above, if any, will be considered as and when arise.

The Company has reviewed all its pending litigations and proceeding and has adequately provided for where provision 
required and disclosed as contingent liabiities where applicable, in it's financial statement. The company does not expect the 
outcome of these procedings to have a meterialy adverse effect on its financial position.

commitments:

Contracts remaining to be executed on capital account (Net of 
Advances)

 159.93  19.35 

The Company has procured certain capital goods under EPCG scheme at a concessional rate of duty. As on 31st March, 
2019, the Company is contingently liable to pay differential custom duty Rs. 12.93 Lakhs (31st March 2018 Rs. 12.93 Lakhs) 
on such procurement. In view of past export performance & future projections, the management is hopeful of completing the 
export obligation within stipulated time, and expect no cash outflow on this account.

notes to the financial statements
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(rs. in Lakhs)

33 information about Business segment      

 According to Ind AS 108, identification of operating segments is based on Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) approach 
for making decisions about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance. The business activity of the 
company falls within one broad business segment viz. “Dairy Products” and substantially sale of the product is within the 
country.

34 event occurred after balance sheet      

 The Board of directors has recommended dividend of Rs. 0.50 (Previous Year  Rs 0.25) per equity share aggregating Rs. 
132.63 Lakhs (Previous Year  Rs 66.32 Lakhs) including corporate dividend tax of Rs. 22.62 Lakhs (Previous Year  Rs 11.31 
Lakhs)for the financial year ended March 31, 2019 and same is subject to approval of shareholders at the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting.

35 The Management has carried out review of the remaining useful lives of its Fixed assets and its value in use. As the recoverable 
amount as per projections exceeds the carrying amount, no impairment has been provided for in these accounts.

36 Employee benefits

 The Company contributes to the following post-employment defined benefit plans in India.

 The Company participates in defined contribution and benefit schemes, the assets of which are held (where funded) in 
separately administered funds. For defined contribution schemes the amount charged to the statements of profit or loss is 
the total of contributions payable in the year.

(i) Defined Contribution Plans:

 The Company makes contributions towards provident fund to a defined contribution retirement benefit plan for qualifying 
employees. Under the plan, the Company is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll cost to the retirement 
benefit plan to fund the benefits.      

particulars for the year ended 31-03-2019 for the year ended 31-03-2018
Contribution to Govt. Provident Fund 72.99 63.63

(ii) Defined Benefit Plan:      

 The Company provides for gratuity for employees in India as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Employees who are in 
continuous service for a period of 5 years are eligible for gratuity. The amount of gratuity payable on retirement/termination 
is the employees last drawn basic salary per month computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied for the number 
of years of service.

 The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation for gratuity were carried out as at 
31 March 2019. The present value of the defined benefit obligations and the related current service cost and past service 
cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

A Based on the actuarial valuation obtained in this respect, the following table sets out the status of the gratuity plan and the 
amounts recognised in the Company’s financial statements as at balance sheet date:

particulars as at 31.03.2019 as at 31.03.2018
Net defined benefit (liability) / asset  (122.13)  (105.19)

Liability for gratuity
Non-current  (1.89)  (2.02)

Current  (120.24)  (103.17)
     

notes to the financial statements
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B Movement in net defined benefit (asset) liability      

 The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for net defined benefit (asset) 
liability and its components:

particulars current year previous year
Defined 
benefit 

obligation

fair value 
of plan 
assets

Net defined 
benefit 
(asset)/
liability

Defined 
benefit 

obligation

fair 
value 

of plan 
assets

Net defined 
benefit 
(asset)/
liability

Balance as at 1 april  105.19  -    105.19  112.21  -    112.21 

Included in profit or loss  -    -    -   

Current service cost  22.18  -    22.18  20.32  -    20.32 

Interest cost  8.28  -    8.28  8.83  -    8.83 

 135.65  -    135.65  141.36  -    141.36 
included in oci
Premeasurements loss (gain)  -    -    -    -    -    -   

-Actuarial loss (gain) arising from:  -    -    -    -    -    -   

-demographic assumptions  -    -    -    -   

-financial assumptions  2.88  -    2.88  (4.25)  (4.25)

-experience adjustment  (5.84)  -    (5.84)  (8.68)  (8.68)

-on plan assets  -    -    -    -   

 (2.96)  -    (2.96)  (12.93)  -    (12.93)
other
Contributions paid by the employer

Benefits paid  -    -    -    23.24  -    23.24 

Acquisition adjustment  -    -    -    23.24  -    23.24 

Balance as at 31 march  132.69  -    132.69  105.19  -    105.19 

C plan assets

 The Company has no plan assets.
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d actuarial assumptions      
 The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages). 

particulars as at 31.03.2019 as at 31.03.2018
Discount rate 7.65 7.87

Expected rate of future salary increase 7.00 7.00

Mortality 100% of IALM (2006 -08)

 Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality tables. The company expects 
to pay Rs. 35.84 Lakhs (Previous year Rs. 2.18 Lakhs) in contribution to its defined benefit plans in the next year. 

e sensitivity analysis

 Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions 
constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below.    

particulars 
as at 31.03.2019 as at 31.03.2018

100 bp 100 bp 100 bp 100 bp
increase decrease increase decrease

Discount rate -6.61 7.22 -11.49 13.88

Expected rate of future salary increase 7.24 -6.68 13.69 -11.39

 Sensitivities due to mortality & withdrawals are insignificant & hence ignored. Sensitivities as to rate of inflation, rate of 
increase of pensions in payment, rate of increase of pensions before retirement & life expectancy are not applicable being 
a lump sum benefit on retirement.

 Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide 
an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.

f description of risk exposures:

 Defined benefit plans expose the Company to actuarial risks such as: Interest rate risk, Salary risk and Demographic 
Risk.       

 i. interest rate risk: The defined benefit obligation calculated uses a discount rate based on government bonds. If the 
bond yield falls, the defined benefits obligation will tend to increase.

ii. salary risk: Higher than expected increase in salary will increase the defined benefit obligation.

iii.  demographic risk: This is the risk of variability of results due to unsystematic nature of decrements that includes 
mortality, withdrawals, disability and retirement. The effect of these decrements on the defined benefit obligation is not 
straight forward and depends on the combination of salary increase, discount rate and vesting criteria. It is important 
not to overstate withdrawals because in the financial analysis the retirement benefit of a short career employee typically 
costs less per year as compared to a long service employee.

37 Related Party Transactions (to the extent identified by the Company)
 In accordance with the requirements of Ind AS 24, on related party disclosures, name of the related party, relationship, 

transactions and outstanding balances including commitments where control exits and with whom transactions have taken 
place during reported periods are as follows:

 related parties and their relationships 
 a)  List of related parties 

 i. Enterprise which holds more than 20% of Equity Share. 
Bengal & Assam Company Limited (BACL)

 b)  other entities 
 i. Pushpawati Singhania Research Institute (PSRI)

notes to the financial statements
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(Rs. in Lakhs)

 key managerial personnel (kmp)  :

sr. no. name designation
1 Ram Chandra Periwal Independent & Non-Executive Director
2 Sharda Devi Singhania Non-Executive Director
3 Ratan Chand Jain Independent & Non-Executive Director
4 Desh Bandhu Doda Non-Executive Director
5 Shri Manish Bandlish^ (w.e.f. 11.06.2018) Chief Executive Officer
6 Shri L.R. Nayak^ (w.e.f. 01.10.2018) Chief Financial Officer
7 Shri C.Venugopal^ (till 31st August 2018) Chief Executive Officer
8 Shri Diwan Singh^ (till 30th September 2018)                Chief Financial Officer
9 Shri Pankaj Kamra ^ Company Secretary

 ^ As per the Companies Act, 2013

sl. no. nature of transaction 2018-19 2017-18
others key  management 

personnels
others key  management 

personnels
1 Medical Expenses paid to PSRI  0.87  -    0.82  -   
2 Short-term employee benefits #  -    213.96  -    144.29 
3 Director Sitting Fee to non-executive 

directors
 -    13.23  -    11.92 

4 Directors Commission  -    6.50  -    -   
5 Dividend to Directors - 0.00 - -
6 Dividend to Bengal & Assam 

Company Limited (BACL)
- 27.43 - -

 # The above said remuneration is excluding provision for Gratuity & Leave Encashment, where the actuarial valuation is 
done on overall Company basis.     

38 financiaL instruments   
 financial assets

(rs. in Lakhs)

s. 
no. 

particulars as at march 31, 2019 as at march 31, 2018
carrying fair carrying fair
amount value amount value

1 financial assets designated at amortised cost 
a) Trade receivables  1,119.25  1,119.25  1,241.85  1,241.85 
b) Cash and cash equivalents  33.17  33.17  39.69  39.69 
c) Other Bank Balances other than "b" above  43.64  43.64  39.32  39.32 
d) Other financial assets  84.79  84.79 81.51  81.51 

 1,280.84  1,280.84  1,402.37  1402.37 
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 financial Liabilities
(rs. in Lakhs)

s. 
no. 

particulars as at march 31, 2019 as at march 31, 2018
carrying fair carrying fair
amount value amount value

1 financial liability designated at amortised cost
a) Borrowings  3,113.55  3,113.55  4,471.60  4,471.60 
b) Trade payables  1,028.20  1,028.20  722.16  722.16 
c) Other financial liability  728.48  728.48  786.24  786.24 

 4,870.23  4,870.23  5,980.00  5,980.00 
  

 the following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values. 
A Company has adopted effective rate of interest for calculating Interest. This has been calculated as the weighted 

average of effective interest rates calculated for each loan. In addition processing fees and transaction cost relating 
to each loan has also been considered for calculating effective interest rate.

B Fair value of cash and deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, and other current financial assets and liabilities are 
at their carrying amounts due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

C The fair value of financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged 
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.   
 

 fair value hierarchy      
  This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial instruments 

that are: 
  (a) recognised and measured at fair value and 
  (b) measured at amortised cost and for which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements.
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
Level 3 - Inputs for the assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
There are no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the year.

39 financiaL risk management oBJectives and poLicies
 The Company has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
    - Credit risk;
       - Liquidity risk;
    - Market risk
    - Currency risk
    - Interest rate risk
    - Commodity price risk

 i. risk management framework
  The Company’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 

management framework. The board of directors has established the processes to ensure that executive management 
controls risks through the mechanism of property defined framework.

ii. credit risk
  Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counter party to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s receivables from customers and investments 
in debt securities.
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  The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The Company monitor credit risk very 
closely both in export and domestic market. The management impact analysis show credit risk and impact assessment 
as low.

 trade and other receivables
 The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However,  

management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk 
of the industry and country in which customers operate. The Company Management has established a procedure under 
which each new customer is analyzed individually for creditworthiness. The Company’s review includes market check, 
industry feedback, past financial and external ratings, if they are available, and in some cases bank references. Sale limits 
are established for each customer and reviewed quarterly. Any sales exceeding those limits require approval from the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company.

 Most of the Company’s customers have been transacting with the Company for over four years, and no significant impairment 
loss has been recognized against these customers. In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are reviewed according 
to their credit characteristics, including whether they are an individual or a legal entity, their geographic location, industry 
and existence of previous financial difficulties

 The Company establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its expected credit losses in respect of trade and 
other receivables. The management uses a simplified approach for the purpose of computation of expected credit loss for 
trade receivables.

 The carrying amount net of loss allowances of trade receivables is 1119.25 Lakhs (31 March 2018 – Rs 1241.85 Lakhs).
 ageing of trade receivables are as under:-                                                                                                 (rs. in Lakhs)

particulars as at 31.03.2019 as at 31.03.2018

Less than 6 
months 

6-12 
months 

more than 
12 months 

total Less than 
6 months 

6-12 
months 

more than 
12 months 

total

unsecured  1,128.53  13.22  -    1,141.74  1,241.62  0.23  3.97 1,245.82 

allowances for 
credit Losses

 (11.01)  (11.48)  -    (22.49)  -    -    (3.97)  (3.97)

net Balance  1,117.51  1.74  -    1,119.25  1,241.62  0.23  -   1,241.85 
 During the period, the Company has made no write-offs of trade receivables. It does not expect to receive future cash flows 

or recoveries from collection of cash flows previously written off. The Company management also pursue all legal option 
for recovery of dues wherever necessary based on its internal assessment.

 reconciliation of loss allowance provision – trade receivables                             (rs. in Lakhs)

particulars as at 31.03.2019 as at 31.03.2018

Opening balance  3.97  3.97 

Changes in loss allowance  18.52  -   

closing balance  22.49  3.97 
 iii. Liquidity risk
 The Company’s objective is to maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements at all times. 

The Company relies on a mix of borrowings and excess operating cash flows to meet its needs for funds. The current 
committed lines of credit are sufficient to meet its short to medium/ long term expansion needs. The Company monitors rolling 
forecasts of its liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient 
headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Company does not breach borrowing limits 
or covenants (where applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities.

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments.  
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                                                                                                                                                        (Rs. in Lakhs)

particulars carrying 
amount

 Less than 
1 year 

1-5 years more than  
5 year

total

as at march 31, 2019
Borrowings –Current  2,126.12  2,126.12  -    -    2,126.12 
Borrowings -Non Current  500.03  -    432.53  67.50  500.03 

Current maturity of Non Current Borrowings  487.40  487.40  -    -    487.40 
Trade Payables  -    -    -    -    -   
Other financial liabilities- Current  717.48  717.48  -    -    717.48 
Other financial liabilities- Non Current  11.00  -    11.00  -    11.00 
Interest accured but not due on loans  4.52  4.52  -    -    4.52 
total  3,846.55  3,335.52  443.53  67.50  3,846.55 
as at march 31, 2018
Borrowings –Current  3,348.25  3,348.25  -    -    3,348.25 
Borrowings -Non Current  797.25  -    639.75  157.50  797.25 
Current maturity of Non Current Borrowings  326.10  326.10  -    -    326.10 
Trade Payables  618.03  618.03  -    -    618.03 
Other financial liabilities- Current  767.49  1,093.59  -    -    1,093.59 
Other financial liabilities- Non Current  11.00  -    11.00  -    11.00 
Interest accured but not due on loans  7.75  7.75  -    -    7.75 
total  5,875.87  5,393.72  650.75  157.50  6,201.97 

iv. market risk 
 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – such as interest rates – will affect the Company’s income or the value 

of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.

 The Company uses various debt instruments to manage market risks on account of interest rates. All such transactions are 
carried out as per guidelines of the Management.

 v. currency risk        

 The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from foreign currency transactions, primarily with respect to 
the USD for exports and small exposure in EUR for import of machinery/spares. Foreign exchange risk arises from future 
commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the company’s functional 
currency (Rs.). The risk is measured through a forecast of highly probable foreign currency cash flows. The objective of 
the hedges is to minimise the volatility of the Rs. cash flows of highly probable forecast transactions by hedging the foreign 
exchange inflows on regular basis. The Company also take help from external consultants who for views on the currency 
rates in volatile foreign exchange markets.

 Since Company received/ paid advance against exports/imports as a result Currency risks related to the principal amounts 
of the Company’s foreign currency receivables/payables does not arise.

 In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Company’s policy is to ensure 
that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary to 
address short-term imbalances.
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 The summary quantitative data about the Company’s exposure to currency risk as reported by the management of the 
Company is as follows:

(Rs. in Lakhs)

particulars as at 31.03.2019 as at 31.03.2018
inr inr

financial assets/Liabilities
Trade receivables  -   0.05
Trade payables  -   1.04

 The following significant exchange rates have been applied 
particulars year end spot rate

as at 31.03.2019 as at 31.03.2018
usd 1 69.44 65.04

 sensitivity analysis
 A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of the Rs. against USD at 31 March would have affected the measurement 

of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. 
This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.   

particulars as at 31.03.2019 as at 31.03.2018
5% 5% 5% 5%

increase decrease increase decrease

usd sensitivity 0.00 0.00 -0.05 0.05

 vi. interest rate risk        
 The Company’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term and short term borrowings with variable rates, which expose the 

Company to cash flow interest rate risk. During 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, the Company’s borrowings at variable 
rate were denominated in Rupees.

 Currently the Company’s borrowings are within acceptable risk levels, as determined by the management, hence the 
Company has not taken any swaps to hedge the interest rate risk.

 exposure to interest rate risk
 The interest rate profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments as reported to the management of the 

Company is as follows.

particulars nominal amount
as at 31.03.2019 as at 31.03.2018

fixed-rate instruments
Financial liabilities  68.08  51.75 

variable-rate instruments
Financial liabilities  3,113.55  4,471.60 

 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable-rate instruments      
 A reasonably possible change of 50 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) 

equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign 
currency exchange rates, remain constant.

notes to the financial statements
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particulars
Profit or loss equity, net of tax

50 bp 50 bp 50 bp 50 bp
increase decrease increase decrease

31st march 2019
Variable-rate instruments  (15.57)  15.57  (11.24)  11.24 
Cash flow sensitivity  (15.57)  15.57  (11.24)  11.24 

31st march 2018
variable-rate instruments  (22.36)  22.36  (14.97)  14.97 
Cash flow sensitivity  (22.36)  22.36  (14.97)  14.97 

 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed-rate instruments
 The Company does not account for any fixed-rate financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss. A change of 50 basis points in 
interest rates would have increased or decreased equity by Rs. 0.25 lakhs after tax (Previous year Rs. 0.17 lakhs ). This 
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant.

 ii. commodity price risks
 The Company is exposed to the movement in price of key raw materials in domestic markets. The Company has in place 

policies to manage exposure to fluctuations in the prices of the key raw materials used in operations. The Company manages 
fluctuations in raw material price through hedging in the form of major procurement and high production of semi finished 
products in seasons when the prices are perceived to be low as strategic sourcing initiative in order to keep raw material 
and prices under check to the extent possible.

40. capital risk management
 The Company’s policy is to maintain an adequate capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence and to 

sustain future development. Capital includes issued capital, share premium and all other equity reserves attributable to 
equity holders. In order to strengthen the capital base, the company may use appropriate means to enhance or reduce 
capital, as the case may be.  

particulars as at as at
31-03-2019 31-03-2018

Borrowings  3,181.63  4,523.35 
Less: cash and cash equivalents including bank balance  76.81  79.01 
Less: Current Investments  -    -   
net debt  3,104.83  4,444.34 
Equity  5,733.40  5,292.96 
capital and net debt  8,838.22  9,737.30 
Gearing Ratio 35% 46%

      
41 Previous year figures have been regrouped/ rearranged, wherever considered necessary to conform to current year’s 

classification.

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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